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THE LAST FINANCIAL YEAR OF CRUSADER RESO¦w/9{ [LaL¢95 όά/w¦{!59wέ hw ά¢I9 /hat!b¸έύ 
COMMENCED ON 1 JULY 2012 AND ENDED ON 30 JUNE 2013. 
 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 323D (2A) OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 (CTH), THE COMPANY HAS CHANGED 
ITS FINANCIAL YEAR END IN ORDER FOR IT TO BE CO-TERMINOUS WITH THAT OF ITS SUBSIDIARIES (AS ITS 
PRINCIPAL OPERATIONS ARE IN BRAZIL AND ITS BRAZILIAN SUBSIDIARIES ARE UNABLE TO CHANGE THEIR 
FINANCIAL YEAR END). THE CRUSADER BOARD HAS DETERMINED THAT SUCH CHANGE IS MADE IN GOOD 
FAITH IN THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE GROUP. THE AUSTRALIAN SECURITIES AND INVESTMENTS 
/haaL{{Lhb όά!{L/έύ HAS ACKNOWLEDGED THE CHANGE Ib ¢I9 /hat!b¸Ω{ CLb!NCIAL YEAR END. 
 
THE CURRENT FINANCIAL PERIOD IS THEREFORE OF SIX ahb¢IΩ{ 5¦w!¢LhbΣ .9ING THE PERIOD FROM 1 
JULY 2013 TO 31 DECEMBER 2013. HEREAFTER, EACH FINANCIAL YEAR WILL COMMENCE ON 1 JANUARY 
AND END ON 31 DECEMBER. 
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/ƘŀƛǊƳŀƴΩǎ [ŜǘǘŜǊ ǘƻ {ƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎ 
 
Dear Shareholder, 
 
I am very pleased to report that your company has continued to grow over the period against a background of 
volatile international share markets and commodity prices. 

 
As a company we have now aligned our financial reporting period with the Brazilian financial year and as such will 
now report to shareholders with a December 31 year end. 
 
The advancement of our Brazilian domestic iron ore business has exceeded expectations, and we expect 2014 will 
be an exciting period with commissioning and delivery of an additional beneficiation process that will allow us to 
bring the Posse mine up to full production. 
 
CƻǊ /ǊǳǎŀŘŜǊΣ ǘƘŜ tƻǎǎŜ ƳƛƴŜ ŎƻǳƭŘ ƴƻǘ ōŜ ƛƴ ŀ ōŜǘǘŜǊ ƭƻŎŀǘƛƻƴΦ Lǘ ƛǎ Ƨǳǎǘ олƪƳ ŦǊƻƳ .Ŝƭƻ IƻǊƛȊƻƴǘŜ ƛƴ .ǊŀȊƛƭΩǎ ŦŀƳŜŘ 
άLǊƻƴ vǳŀŘǊƛƭŀǘŜǊŀƭέ ǊŜƎƛƻƴ - ƻƴŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǿƻǊƭŘΩǎ Ƴƻǎǘ ǇǊƻƭƛŦƛŎ ƛǊƻƴ ƻǊŜ ŀǊŜŀǎΦ ¢he location has proved to be a boon 
for the company as it is right on the highway and is surrounded by many smelters and customers enabling easy 
access and minimal transport costs feeding the buoyant domestic market. 
 
The GroupΩǎ ŎŀǇƛǘŀƭ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ Ƙŀǎ continued to be disciplined for this reporting period.  Not only has the Group 
managed its financial resources to avoid any dilution (the last capital raising was nearly 2 years ago) but I am very 
pleased to report that the cash position is now growing on a monthly basis.  We aim to be in a position to repay our 
debt financing from our operating cash flows by 31 December 2014.  
 
Our cost reduction program has now been completed with the company now operating out of a single central 
office in the mining capital of Brazil, Belo Horizonte.  Crusader was one of the first ASX listed companies to 
recognise the changed global financial landscape and focus heavily on capital efficiency; the results of these efforts 
can now be seen in the financial accounts.   
 
CrusaderΩǎ ƎƻƭŘ ŘƛǾƛǎƛƻƴ Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ ǘƘǊƻǳƎƘ ŀ ŎƻƴǎƻƭƛŘŀǘƛƻƴ ǇŜǊƛƻŘ ŘǊƛǾŜƴ ōȅ  ǘƘŜ ŘǊŀƳŀǘƛŎ Ŧŀƭƭ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƛŎŜ ƻŦ ƎƻƭŘΦ 
The Group has now reviewed and optimised all costs associated with this part of the business.  Strategically, this 
period coincided with the commissioning of the Posse iron ore mine,  and focusing management time on one major 
project at a time was critical to managing our senior staff and financial resources.  With 2014 heralding stronger 
gold prices so far, the Gold division is now appropriately resourced and primed to deliver value to shareholders 
again.  I am looking forward to seeing value return to this exciting part of our business. 
 
I would like to thank our Managing Director, Rob Smakman, Executive Director, Paul Stephen and all the Crusader 
team for helping create the value which will ultimately flow through to shareholders as the Group continues to 
grow. There remains a very strong focus on cost-effective exploration and project development, designed to 
provide Crusader with a suite of projects to provide growth options into the future. I am very confident we have 
ǘƘŜ ǘŜŀƳ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ǎƪƛƭƭǎ ǘƻ ŘŜƭƛǾŜǊ ƻƴ /ǊǳǎŀŘŜǊΩǎ ǇƻǘŜƴǘƛŀƭΦ 
 
I would also like to thank all our shareholders for their continued support.  We can all look forward to an exciting 
year with both the iron ore and gold divisions providing opportunities for significant growth. 
 
Yours Faithfully, 

 

 
 
Stephen Copulos 
Chairman 
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5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜǇƻǊǘ 

 
The Directors of Crusader Resources Limited (άǘƘŜ tŀǊŜƴǘ 9ƴǘƛǘȅέ ƻǊ ά/ǊǳǎŀŘŜǊέ ƻǊ άǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅέύ and its controlled 
ŜƴǘƛǘƛŜǎ όάǘƘŜ ŎƻƴǎƻƭƛŘŀǘŜŘ Ŝƴǘƛǘȅέ ƻǊ άthe Groupέύ ǎǳōƳƛǘ ƘŜǊŜǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ŀƴƴǳŀƭ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǊŜǇƻǊǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ 
ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǇŜǊƛƻŘ ŎƻƳǇǊƛǎƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǎƛȄ ƳƻƴǘƘǎ ŜƴŘŜŘ ом 5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ нлмо όάǘƘŜ ǇŜǊƛƻŘέύΦ 
 
In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), the Directors report as follows: 
 
Information about the Directors 
 
The names and particulars of the Board of Directors (άthe Boardέ) of the Company during or since the end of the 
financial period are: 
 
Mr. Stephen Copulos (Non-Executive Chairman) 
Mr. Copulos has over 30 years of experience in a variety of businesses and investments in a wide range of industries, 
including manufacturing, mining, fast food, property development and hospitality. He has been the Managing Director 
of the Copulos Group of companies, a private investment group, since 1997. Mr. Copulos is an active global investor 
who brings significant business acumen and greater diversity to the Board of Crusader. He has been a major 
shareholder of Crusader for many years, and is aligned to improving shareholder returns. 

Mr. Copulos has over 14 ȅŜŀǊǎΩ ŜȄǇŜǊƛŜƴŎŜ ŀǎ ŀ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƻǊ ƻŦ ōƻǘƘ ƭƛǎǘŜŘ ŀƴŘ ǳƴƭƛǎǘŜŘ ǇǳōƭƛŎ ŎƻƳǇŀƴƛŜǎ. He is 
currently a non-executive director of Collins Foods Limited. 

Mr. Copulos is Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit and Risk Committee. 

 
Mr. Robert Smakman (Managing Director) B.Sc (Hons), F.Aus.IMM., FFIN 
Mr. Smakman is an Honours graduate of Monash University and has had a successful international career as a 
geologist and manager over the past 20 years. He has been associated with a variety of different commodities 
including gold, iron, uranium, copper, silver and rare earths. He has held management roles in various countries and 
has served in senior public company management for several years. 
 
Mr. Smakman has been a resident of Brazil since 2006, and has negotiated the purchase of ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ projects as 
well as managed their exploration and development. 

 
Mr. Paul Stephen (Executive Director) B.Comm 
Mr. Stephen holds a Bachelor of Commerce from the University of Western Australia.  He has more than 20 years of 
experience in the financial services industry, starting as a portfolio manager at Perpetual Trustees in 1992 and working 
subsequently as a Private Client Advisor with Porter Western and Macquarie Bank. Mr. Stephen was a significant 
shareholder and Senior Client Advisor at Montagu Stockbrokers prior to their merger with Paterson Securities Ltd. 

 
Mr. John Evans (Non-Executive Director) B.Comm (Hons), FCA, CPA, MAICD 
Mr. Evans holds a Commerce (Hons) degree from the University of Queensland, is a Fellow of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in Australia, and is a member of both CPA Australia and the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors. 

Mr. Evans is currently the Principal of a Business Broking and Advisory practice, and advises a broad range of 
businesses, in both the SME sector and larger corporate clients, on matters such as strategic planning, marketing, 
governance, and financial analysis. Prior to this, Mr. Evans held a series of executive positions in Finance and General 
Management in Australian public company groups over a 15 year period, in industries including telecommunications, 
banking and insurance, superannuation and funds management, media, hospitality and property development. 
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5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜǇƻǊǘ (continued) 

 
Mr. 9ǾŀƴǎΩ approach to advising businesses balances the need for practical, achievable solutions, with the need to 
always keep in sight the overall strategic objective. He has held several other non-executive directorships in Australian 
public companies, including Intermoco Limited, MediVac Limited and HealthLinx Limited. He is also a director of 
several private companies, one not-for-profit organisation, and provides board consulting services to three other 
company groups. 

Mr. Evans is Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee. 

 
Mr. Mauricio Ferreira (Non-Executive Director) B.Sc  
Mr. Ferreira is a senior executive with more than 35 years of experience in the natural resources and energy sectors. 

From 1986 to 2012, Mr. Ferreira held several positions within the Vale Group. He has managed distinct functions from 
exploration to sales and marketing in different businesses including iron ore, gold, fertilizers, kaolin and energy.  
In the early 1990´s Mr. Ferreira was actively involved in the exploration and development of three gold mines in Brazil. 
More recently he was Director of Special Projects in Sustainability and Energy, CEO of Vale Energia Limpa, Director of 
Business Development at Vale Oil & Gas and Chief Executive Officer of PPSA Kaolim Mine and CADAM S.A. 

Mr. Ferreira earned a Bachelor of Science in Geology at Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro and attended the Ph.D. 
program at the University of Western Ontario. He has supplemented his experience with extensive executive 
education at Ibmec, University of Sao Paulo, Harvard University, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, INSEAD and 
the International Institute for Management Development. 

Mr. Ferreira is a member of the Audit and Risk Committee. 

 
Mr. David Netherway (Non-Executive Director) B.Eng (Mining), C.Dip.AF, F.Aus.IMM, CP 
Mr. Netherway is a mining engineer with over 35 years of experience in the mining industry. 
 
He was the Chief Executive Officer of Shield Mining Limited, an Australian listed company exploring for gold and base 
metals in Mauritania, until the 2010 takeover by Gryphon Minerals Limited. Prior to this, he served as the Chief 
Executive Officer of Toronto-listed Afcan Mining Corporation, a China-focused gold mining company which was taken 
over by Eldorado Gold Corporation. He has also held senior management positions in a number of mining companies, 
including Golden Shamrock Mines Ltd, Ashanti Goldfields Corporation and Semafo Inc, and is a former director of 
Gryphon Minerals Ltd, Equigold NL, GMA Resources Ltd, and Orezone Resources Inc. Mr. Netherway was also the 
chairman of Afferro Mining Inc until December 2013. 
  
Mr. Netherway is the chairman of Kilo Goldmines Ltd, Aureus Mining Inc, and a non-executive director of Altus Global 
Gold Ltd, Altus Resource Capital Limited and Canyon Resources Ltd. 
 
Mr. Netherway is a member of the Remuneration Committee. 

 
Company Secretary 
Andrew Beigel, B.Comm, CPA 
Mr. Beigel has more than 18 years of corporate experience across a range of industries, and has held executive 
positions with other ASX listed companies in the resources sector.  He has previously been involved in development 
and funding of projects and bankable feasibility studies.   
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5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜǇƻǊǘ όŎƻƴǘƛƴǳŜŘύ 
 
Shares and options issued during the financial period 
The Company issued the following shares and options during the period:  
 

¶ 2,990,000 options exercisable at $0.4300 with an expiry date of 7 August 2017 
 
Details of unissued shares under option at the date of this report are: 
 

No. shares under option Class of shares under option Exercise price of option  
$ 

Expiry date of options 

7,322,000 ordinary     0.3414   10 May 2017  

1,675,000 ordinary 0.43   13 May 2017  

2,990,000 ordinary 0.43    7 Aug 2017  

    250,000 ordinary 0.44 1 Aug 2015  

1,000,000 ordinary 0.48  31 Dec 2015  

    500,000 ordinary 0.56 22 Aug 2015  

 1,000,000 ordinary 0.70 22 Aug 2015  

    120,000 ordinary 1.35 30 Jun 2014  

      90,000 ordinary 1.35 30 Jun 2016  

 
The issuing entity for all ordinary shares under option is Crusader Resources Limited. 
 
The holders of these options do not have the right, by virtue of the option, to participate in any share issue or interest 
issue of the Company. 
 
Interests in the shares and options of the Company and related bodies corporate 
As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors in the shares and options of Crusader Resources Limited are 
as follows: 

 

Director Number of 
ordinary shares 

Number of 
unlisted options 

S. Copulos 12,480,276 500,000 

R. Smakman 2,717,426 1,000,000 

P. Stephen 3,443,780 1,000,000 

J. Evans - 330,000 

M. Ferreira - 330,000 

D. Netherway 35,000 540,000 

 
During and since the end of the financial period an aggregate of 2,990,000 share options were granted to the 
following Directors and Key Management Personnel: 

 

Directors and Key 
Management 

Personnel 

Number of options 
granted 

Issuing entity Number of 
ordinary shares 
under option 

S. Copulos 500,000 Crusader Resources Limited 500,000   

R. Smakman        1,000,000 Crusader Resources Limited        1,000,000 

P. Stephen 500,000 Crusader Resources Limited 500,000 

J. Evans 330,000 Crusader Resources Limited 330,000 

M. Ferreira 330,000 Crusader Resources Limited 330,000 

D. Netherway 330,000 Crusader Resources Limited 330,000 
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5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜǇƻǊǘ όŎƻƴǘƛƴǳŜŘύ 
 
Dividends 
The Directors do not recommend that a dividend be paid.  No dividend has been paid by the Company (2013: Nil). 
 
Principal activities 
The principal activity of the Group during the financial period was mining, mineral exploration and evaluation in Brazil. 
 
Functional currency 
For the purposes of the financial statements, the results and financial position of the Group are expressed in 
Australian Dollars (ά$έ), which is the functional currency of the Group and the presentation currency of the financial 
statements. 
 

Operating and Financial Review  
 
Crusader consolidated its presence in the Brazilian iron ore market with a strong half year of production from the 
Posse iron ore mine.  Sales increased throughout the period as customers gained confidence in the ability of Crusader 
to produce consistent, high quality product.  The receipt of the full mining licence for Posse in late January 2014 was a 
significant milestone for the company, providing security of tenure and operational flexibility for the project going 
forward.   
 
Crusader focussed heavily on improving cash flow utilisation during both the current and prior periods. As a result of 
ǘƘƛǎ ŜŦŦƻǊǘΣ ŀƴŘ ƛƴ ŎƻƳōƛƴŀǘƛƻƴ ǿƛǘƘ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘΩǎ ǎǘǊƻƴƎ ǇŜǊŦƻǊƳŀƴŎŜ ŀǎ ǿŜƭƭ ŀǎ ƛƴŎǊŜŀǎŜŘ ǎŀƭŜǎΣ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇ ƛǎ ƴƻǿ 
cash flow positive. This was achieved during a market which has been very difficult for most junior explorers and 
miners, and accordingly, Crusader has outperformed many of its peers. This would not have been possible without the 
flexible leadership which focussed the company on bringing the Posse mine to the position of being an important part 
of the Brazilian domestic iron ore market.  
 
Work on both the Borborema gold project and surrounding Seridó gold exploration continued during the period. 
However, with some weakness in the gold price, and management attention focussed on company costs and 
operation of the Posse mine, work in the gold division was a lower priority during the reporting period.  
 
The goals for the company looking into 2014 are to maximise the potential of the Posse operation through the 
beneficiation of the fines, and to continue advancing the Borborema gold project and Seridó exploration, whilst 
maintaining critical fiscal discipline across the company.  
 
Posse Iron Ore Mine, Minas Gerais, Brazil (CAS 100%) 
The Posse iron ore mine was opened in March 2013, with sales beginning in earnest in April.  The period from July to 
December 2013 saw a steady increase in production at the project and an increased recognition by customers for 
tƻǎǎŜΩǎ high-quality high-grade products.  During the six month period ending 31 December 2013 sales increased 
consistently, with total sales for the period amounting to 152,960 tonnes, realising a gross profit of $3,503,489. 
 
¢ƘŜ ΨtƻǊǘŀǊƛŀ ŘŜ [ŀǾǊŀΩ όfull mining licence) was received for the Posse project in late January 2014, a significant step 
forward that will allow the Group to continue evolving Posse.  The licence allows increased operational flexibility and, 
more importantly, gives the company security to implement the project development plans which will allow the fines, 
which are a significant part of the DǊƻǳǇΩǎ resource, to be fully beneficiated.   
 
The Group is looking forward to implementing the fines beneficiation, as this will add significantly to the positive cash 
flows of the project.  The beneficiation solution will continue the company trend of ensuring that capital costs are 
tightly monitored, ensuring shareholders gain maximum returns. 
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5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜǇƻǊǘ όŎƻƴǘƛƴǳŜŘύ 
 
Borborema Gold Project, Rio Grande do Norte, Brazil (CAS 100%) 
The Borborema gold project in Rio Grande do Norte is a significant gold project with the potential to become one of 
the biggest gold mines in Brazil.  The Group purchased 100% of the project in 2010, and has aggressively drilled, 
sampled, mapped and studied the economic development options for the project; work which remains ongoing. 
 
Weakness in the gold price and overall market conditions over the last twelve months has seen management 
attention focus on the Posse iron ore project, however the important licencing and low-cost studies on Borborema 
continue.  These are seen as critical to the future implementation of the project, and serve to further reduce the risk 
of the project. 
 
The recent weakness of the Brazilian Real, and the slowly increasing gold price, augur well for a renewed focus on 
Borborema in the short term. 
 
Seridó Gold Project, Rio Grande do Norte, Brazil (CAS 100%) 
The Group is exploring the Seridó belt, an extensive 100% owned land package that surrounds the Borborema Gold 
project.  This area is considered highly prospective for gold and other minerals and the Group is conducting 
exploration across the belt with the aim of finding another Borborema-like project, however smaller higher grade 
prospects are also being carefully considered.   
 
The Group holds over 4,500km

2
 of tenements in the region with the areas most proximate to the Borborema project 

prioritised due to their potential to aid in the economics of Borborema itself.  Group geologists are also actively 
visiting and negotiating on historical and active ΨgarimpeiroΩ (artisanal miners) areas as these have the potential to 
define drillable targets.   
 
Results from preliminary exploration indicate that Borborema sits in a corridor with extensive anomalous gold 
deposits.  Work is continuing along this corridor which stretches for over 150km in length, and is being aided by recent 
re-interpretation of government geophysical data.  This region, which has never been effectively explored for gold, 
displays characteristics of a significant new mineral province. 
 
Corporate 
During the period, the Group did not raise any additional funds through share placements.   
 
Operating results for the period 
¢ƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƴƎ ƭƻǎǎ ŀŦǘŜǊ ƛƴŎƻƳŜ ǘŀȄ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ period was $1,871,692 (June 2013: loss of $7,677,691).  The 
DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ōŀǎƛŎ ƭƻǎǎ ǇŜǊ ǎƘŀǊŜ for the period was 1.48 cents (June 2013: loss per share of 6.19 cents). 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows illustrates that there was a decrease in cash and cash equivalents in the 
period ended 31 December 2013 of $585,893 (June 2013: decrease of $2,631,497).  The cash decrease was largely a 
result of payments for exploration and development exceeding funds received from sales of iron ore products. 
 
Risk management 
The Group takes a proactive approach to risk management.  The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for ensuring 
that risks, and also opportunities, ŀǊŜ ƛŘŜƴǘƛŦƛŜŘ ƻƴ ŀ ǘƛƳŜƭȅ ōŀǎƛǎ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ƻōƧŜŎǘƛǾŜǎ ŀƴŘ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ŀǊŜ 
aligned with the risks and opportunities identified by the Board. 
 
Significant changes in the state of affairs 
The state of affairs of the Group was not affected by any significant changes during the financial period not otherwise 
stated in the report. 
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5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜǇƻǊǘ όŎƻƴǘƛƴǳŜŘύ 
 
Environmental regulation and performance 
The GǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ŀǊŜ ǎǳōƧŜŎǘ ǘƻ ŜƴǾƛǊƻƴƳŜƴǘŀƭ ǊŜƎǳƭŀǘƛƻƴǎ ǳƴŘŜǊ Brazil federal and state legislation.  However, 
the Board believes that the Group has adequate systems in place for the management of its environmental 
requirements and is not aware of any breach of those environmental requirements as they apply to the Group. 
 
Significant events after the balance date 
The GroupΩǎ application for a ΨPortaria de LavraΩ (full mining licence) was approved and gazetted on 30 January 2014.  
 
Future developments 
The Group will continue to focus on mining, mineral exploration and development opportunities. 
 
Indemnification and insurance of officers and auditors 
During the financial period, the Group indemnified each of the Directors against all liabilities incurred by them as 
Directors of the Company (and subsidiary companies) and all legal expenses incurred by them as Directors of the 
Company (and subsidiary companies). 
 
The indemnification is subject to various specific exclusions and limitations. 
 
The Company provided Directors and Officers liability insurance during the period. 
 
The Company did not provide any insurance or indemnification for the auditors of the Group. 
 

Remuneration Report 
 
This remuneration report outlines the Director and Executive remuneration arrangements of the Company and the 
Group in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and its regulations.  For the purposes 
of this report, Key Management Personnel of the Group are defined as those persons having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the Company and the Group, directly or 
indirectly, including any Director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Parent Company. 
 
Directors and Key Management Personnel 
The following persons acted as Directors and/or Key Management Personnel of the Group during or since the end of 
the financial period. 
 
Mr. S. Copulos  Chairman (Non-Executive) 
Mr. R. Smakman Managing Director 
Mr. P. Stephen  Director (Executive) 
Mr. J. Evans  Director (Non-Executive) 
Mr. M. Ferreira  Director (Non-Executive) 
Mr. D. Netherway Director (Non-Executive)  
Mr. A. Beigel  Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary 
Mr. M. Schmulian Chief Operating Officer 
Mr. A. Platel  Exploration Manager - ceased provision of services 4 March 2014 
Mr. W. Foote  Project Manager ς appointed 1 August 2013 
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Remuneration policy 
The remuneration policy of the Group is to ensure that remuneration packages of Directors and other Key 
Management Personnel ǇǊƻǇŜǊƭȅ ǊŜŦƭŜŎǘ ǘƘŜ ǇŜǊǎƻƴΩǎ ŘǳǘƛŜǎ ŀƴŘ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŀǘ ǊŜƳǳƴŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ ƛǎ ŎƻƳǇŜǘƛǘƛǾŜ 
in attracting, retaining and motivating Directors and other Key Management Personnel of the Group. As part of the 
remuneration policy the Group issues incentive options to Directors and other Key Management Personnel. These 
options may require achieving specific performance targets as a condition of vesting.  In addition, cash bonuses are 
paid based on achieving specific performance indicators as set out in the contracts of employment. 
 
The aggregate sum available for remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is currently $460,000 per annum as 
approved at a General Meeting of shareholders on 23 November 2011.  
 
The tables below set out summary information about the DǊƻǳǇΩǎ earnings and movements in shareholder wealth for 
the five most recent financial periods ending 31 December 2013: 

 

 31 Dec 2013 
         $ 

30 June 2013 
$ 

30 June 2012 
$ 

30 June 2011 
$ 

30 June 2010 
$ 

Revenue 7,502,482 2,011,024  1,176,891 679,689 389,362 
Net loss before tax 1,583,973 7,618,570 11,305,829 8,778,006 1,741,981 
Net loss after tax 1,871,692 7,677,691  11,305,829 8,778,006 1,741,981 

 

 31 Dec 2013 
cents 

30 June 2013  
cents 

30 June 2012  
cents 

30 June 2011  
cents 

30 June 2010  
Cents 

Share price at start of period 23.0 62.0 118.0   55.0 13.5 
Share price at end of period 30.0  23.0   62.0 118.0 55.0 
Interim dividend      -       -         -         -       - 
Final dividend      -           -         -         -       - 
Basic loss per share 1.48 6.19 10.44 10.68 3.20 
Diluted loss per share 1.48 6.19 10.44  10.68  3.20  

 
Bonuses and share-based payments granted as compensation for the current financial period 
At a meeting of shareholders held on 10 June 2008, the Company received approval for the introduction of an 
employee share option scheme (άthe Planέ).  The Plan was re-approved at a meeting of shareholders on 1 April 2011, 
the details of which are set out below.  In the event of any inconsistency between the terms of the Plan and the 
summary set out below, the terms of the Plan will prevail. 

1. The Options can only be issued to Employees or Officers of the Company and its subsidiaries. 

2. Each Option entitles the holder, on exercise, to one fully paid ordinary Share in the Company. 

3. Shares issued on exercise of Options will rank equally with other fully paid ordinary Shares of the Company. 

4. The exercise price and expiry date for the Options will be as determined by the Board (in its discretion) on or 
before the date of issue. 

5. The maximum number of Options that can be issued under the Plan is not to be in excess of 5% of the total 
number of Shares on issue. 

6. An Option may only be exercised after that Option has vested, after any conditions associated with the 
exercise of the Option are satisfied and before its expiry date.  The Board may determine the vesting period 
(if any).  On the grant of an Option the Board may, in its absolute discretion, impose other conditions on the 
exercise of an Option. 

7. An Option will lapse upon the first to occur of its expiry date, the holder acting fraudulently or dishonestly in 
relation to the Company or related entities, or on certain conditions associated with a party acquiring a 90% 
interest in the Shares of the Company. 
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8. Upon an Optionholder ceasing to be a Director, employee or officer of the Company and its subsidiaries, 
whether by termination or otherwise, the Optionholder has 45 days from the day of termination, or 
otherwise, to exercise their Options before their Options lapse. 

9. LŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅ ŜƴǘŜǊǎ ƛƴǘƻ ŀ ǎŎƘŜƳŜ ƻŦ ŀǊǊŀƴƎŜƳŜƴǘΣ ŀ ǘŀƪŜƻǾŜǊ ōƛŘ ƛǎ ƳŀŘŜ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ Shares, or a 
party acquires a sufficient interest in the Company to enable them to replace the Board (or the Board forms 
the view that one of those events is likely to occur), then the Board may declare an Option to be free of any 
conditions of exercise.  Options which are so declared may be exercised at any time on or before they lapse. 

10. Options may not be transferred other than in cases where the Options have vested, are within six months of 
the expiry date of the Options, and the Options are transferred to an Associate of the Optionholder.  
Quotation of Options on the ASX will not be sought.  However, the Company will apply to the ASX for official 
quotation of Shares issued on the exercise of Options. 

11. There are no participating rights or entitlements inherent in the options and holders will not be entitled to 
participate in new issues of capital offered to Shareholders during the currency of the options. However, the 
Company will ensure that the record date for determining entitlements to any such issue will be at least six 
ASX Business Days after the issue is announced. 

12. If the Company makes an issue of Shares to Shareholders by way of capitalisation of profits or reserves 
όά.ƻƴǳǎ LǎǎǳŜέύΣ ŜŀŎƘ hǇǘƛƻƴƘƻƭŘŜǊ ƘƻƭŘƛƴƎ ŀƴȅ hǇǘƛƻƴǎ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƘŀǾŜ ƴƻǘ ŜȄǇƛǊŜŘ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ǘƛƳŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ Record 
Date for determining entitlements to the Bonus Issue shall be entitled to have issued to him upon exercise 
of any of those Options the number of Shares which would have been issued under the Bonus LǎǎǳŜ όά.ƻƴǳǎ 
{ƘŀǊŜǎέύ ǘƻ ŀ ǇŜǊǎƻƴ ǊŜƎƛǎǘŜǊŜŘ ŀǎ ƘƻƭŘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǎŀƳŜ ƴǳƳōŜǊ ƻŦ {ƘŀǊŜǎ ŀǎ ǘƘŀǘ ƴǳƳōŜǊ ƻŦ {ƘŀǊŜǎ ǘƻ ǿƘƛŎƘ 
the Optionholder may subscribe pursuant to the exercise of those Options immediately before the Record 
Date determining entitlements under the Bonus Issue (in addition to the Shares which he or she is otherwise 
entitled to have issued to him or her upon such exercise). 

13. In the event of any reconstruction (including a consolidation, subdivision, reduction or return) of the issued 
capital of the Company prior to the expiry of any Options, the number of Options to which each Option 
holder is entitled, or the exercise price of his or her Options, or both, or any other terms will be 
reconstructed in a manner determined by the Board which complies with the provisions of the ASX Listing 
Rules. 

As at end of the financial period, the following live share-based payments had been issued as compensation: 
 

Options series Grant date Number Exercise 
Price $ 

Expiry date Grant date 
fair value $ 

Vesting date 

11. Issued 25 Aug 2010 
12. Issued 25 Aug 2010 
13. Issued 25 Aug 2010 
14. Issued 25 Aug 2010 
15. Issued 29 Nov 2010 
16. Issued 29 Nov 2010 
19. Issued 30 Nov 2011 
20. Issued 30 Nov 2011 
21. Issued 14 May 2013 
22. Issued 14 May 2013 
23. Issued 14 May 2013 
24. Issued   8 Aug 2013 
24. Issued   8 Aug 2013 (1) 
25. Issued   8 Aug 2013 
26. Issued   8 Aug 2013 

25 Aug 2010 
25 Aug 2010 
25 Aug 2010 
25 Aug 2010 
19 Nov 2010 
19 Nov 2010 
23 Nov 2011 
23 Nov 2011 
14 May 2013 
14 May 2013 
14 May 2013 
30  Jul   2013 
30  Jul   2013 
30  Jul   2013 
30  Jul   2013 

125,000 
125,000 
250,000 
250,000 
500,000 
500,000 
120,000 
  90,000 
558,333 
558,333 
558,334 
857,779 
138,888 
996,667 
996,666 

0.44 
0.44 
0.56 
0.56 
0.70 
0.70 
1.35 
1.35 
0.43 
0.43 
0.43 
0.43 
0.43 
0.43 
0.43 

  1  Aug 2015 
  1  Aug 2015 
22  Aug 2015 
22  Aug 2015 
22  Aug 2015 
22  Aug 2015 
30  Jun  2014 
30  Jun  2016 
13 May 2017 
13 May 2017 
13 May 2017 
 7  Aug  2017 
 7  Aug  2017 
 7  Aug  2017 
 7  Aug  2017 

0.3183 
0.3417 
0.3013 
0.3268 
0.5370 
0.5640 
0.5253 
0.6870 
0.1493 
0.1645 
0.1776 
0.0464 
0.0100 
0.0585 
0.0720 

 1   Feb  2012 
 1   Aug  2013 
22  Feb  2012 
22  Aug 2013 
22  Feb 2012 
22  Aug 2013 
30  Jun  2012 
30  Jun  2012 
14 May 2014 
14 May 2015 
14 May 2016 
 8  Aug  2014 
 8  Aug  2014 
 8  Aug  2015 
 8  Aug  2016 

Where the recipient employee ceases service with the Group prior to vesting date, under item 8 of the Plan, they have 45 
days from the date of cessation of services to exercise their options before their options are deemed to have lapsed. 
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(1) These options were issued on the same basis as those of the same tranche, aside from a specified market based condition 

to achieve a 75c ten day VWAP by 30 June 2014, resulting in a lower valuation per option. These options also have 
associated non-market based vesting conditions which have been agreed with each individual and are directly related to 
their roles. 

Key terms of employment contracts 
 
Robert Smakman is contracted as the Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director to the Group.  Remuneration is 
as follows: 

¶ gross base salary of $320,000 per annum 

¶ 20 days annual leave per annum and statutory long service leave entitlements 

¶ ex-patriate allowances of $100,000 per annum 

¶ use of a motor vehicle in Brazil  

¶ 3 ƳƻƴǘƘǎΩ ƴƻǘƛŎŜ period 

 
Paul Stephen is engaged as an Executive Director.   
Remuneration is as follows: 

¶ gross base salary of $300,000 per annum plus statutory superannuation 

¶ 20 days annual leave per annum and statutory long service leave entitlements 

¶ 3 ƳƻƴǘƘǎΩ ƴƻǘƛŎŜ period 
 
Andrew Beigel is employed as the Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary. 
Remuneration is as follows: 

¶ gross base salary of $160,000 per annum plus statutory superannuation 

¶ 20 days annual leave per annum and statutory long service leave entitlements 

¶ 3 ƳƻƴǘƘǎΩ ƴƻǘƛŎŜ period 
 
Mike Schmulian is engaged as the Chief Operating Officer. 
Remuneration is as follows: 

¶ gross base salary of $264,000 per annum plus statutory superannuation 

¶ 20 days annual leave per annum and statutory long service leave entitlements 

¶ 3 ƳƻƴǘƘǎΩ ƴƻǘƛŎŜ period 
 
Wayne Foote is engaged as the Project Manager. 
Remuneration was as follows: 

¶ gross base salary of $400,000 per annum inclusive of statutory superannuation 

¶ 20 days annual leave per annum 

¶ use of a motor vehicle in Brazil 

¶ expatriate allowances for living expenses (approx. BRL 6,000 per month),  travel (BRL 88,000 per annum), and 
medical insurance (BRL 2,000 per month)  

¶ once-off relocation allowance of up to $15,000 

¶ minimum contractual period of 2 years, with 3 monthǎΩ notice period  
 

Remuneration of Directors and Key Management Personnel for the period ended 31 December 2013 and 
comparatives are  shown over the next two pages: 
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Remuneration Report ς audited (continued) 
 
Remuneration of Directors and Key Management Personnel for the half-year ended 31 December 2013: 

 
*  Options issued to Non-Executive Directions have service conditions only. 

  

 Short-term employee benefits 
Post emp 
benefits 

Share-based 
payments  

Value of 
options as 

proportion of 
remuneration 

Proportion of 
remuneration 
performance 

related*   
Salary & 

Fees 
Other 

benefits 

Cash 
bonus 

Super- 
annuation Options Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ % % 

Directors         

S. Copulos*         

6 months to 31 Dec 2013      60,000           -           -           -     6,889      66,889 10.30 10.30 

         

R. Smakman         

6 months to 31 Dec 2013    139,955 62,498           -           -   12,528    214,981   5.83 5.83 

         

P. Stephen         

6 months to 31 Dec 2013    154,616            -           -   8,887   20,898    184,401 11.33 11.33 

         

J. Evans*         

6 months to 31 Dec 2013      30,000           -           -   1,388           4,546      35,934 12.65 12.65 

         

M. Ferreira*         

6 months to 31 Dec 2013      30,000           -           -           -     4,546      34,546 13.16 13.16 

         

D. Netherway*         

6 months to 31 Dec 2013      30,000           -           -           -     4,546      34,546 13.16 13.16 

         

Total Directors         

6 months to 31 Dec 2013    444,571 62,498           - 10,275   53,953    571,297   9.44 9.44 

         

Key Management Personnel         

A. Beigel1         

6 months to 31 Dec 2013      67,884           - 13,256   7,812   12,972    101,924 12.73 25.73 

         

M. Schmulian         

6 months to 31 Dec 2013    129,077           -           -           -   12,972    142,049   9.13  9.13 

         

A. Platel         

6 months to 31 Dec 2013      99,235 22,235 -           -   12,266    133,736   9.17   9.17 

         

W. Foote         

6 months to 31 Dec 2013    171,511 19,103 -   7,406   48,848    246,868 19.79 19.79 

         

Total Key Management 
Personnel 

        

6 months to 31 Dec 2013 467,707   41,338 13,256 15,218 87,058 624,577 13.94 16.06 

         

Total Directors and Key 
Management Personnel 

        

6 months to 31 Dec 2013 912,278 103,836 13,256 25,493 141,011 1,195,874 11.79 12.90 
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Remuneration Report ς audited (continued) 
 
Remuneration of Directors and Key Management Personnel for the year ended 30 June 2013: 

 
*   Options issued to Non-Executive Directions have service conditions only.  

 Short-term employee benefits 
Post emp 
benefits 

Share-based 
payments  

Value of 
options as 

proportion of 
remuneration 

Proportion of 
remuneration 
performance 

related  
Salary & 

Fees 
Other 

benefits 

Cash 
bonus 

Super- 
annuation Options Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ % % 

Directors         

S. Copulos         

12 months to 30 June 2013      38,877           -           -           -           -      38,877         -     - 

         

R. Smakman         

12 months to 30 June 2013    544,693 22,080           -           -  139,500    705,523   19.75 19.75 

         

P. Stephen2         

12 months to 30 June 2013    344,103            -  20,000     3,189  102,043    469,335  21.74 26.00 

         

D. Archer         

12 months to 30 June 2013     100,806           -           -           -           -     100,806         -         - 

         

Justin Evans         

12 months to 30 June 2013      65,377           -           -           -           -      65,377         -         - 

         

John Evans         

12 months to 30 June 2013       7,500           -           -     338                   -        7,838         -       - 

         

M. Ferreira         

12 months to 30 June 2013      14,127           -           -           -                   -      14,127         -       - 

         

D. Netherway         

12 months to 30 June 2013      73,750           -           -           -               -      73,750         -       - 

         

Total Directors         

12 months to 30 June 2013 1,189,233 22,080  20,000   3,527  241,543 1,475,633           16.32 17.67 

         

Key Management Personnel         

A. Beigel3         

12 months to 30 June 2013     212,638           - 39,506   15,938   16,417    284,499  5.77 19.66 

         

A. Platel         

12 months to 30 June 2013     197,757 34,401 -           -   17,316    249,474   6.94   6.94 

         

M. Schmulian4         

12 months to 30 June 2013    377,009           -    21,250           -   16,417    414,676   3.96  9.08 

         

A. Thompson         

12 months to 30 June 2013      66,950           - -   4,804               -     71,751         -       - 

         

Total Key Management 
Personnel 

        

12 months to 30 June 2013 854,354 34,401 60,756 20,742 50,150 1,020,400 4.91 10.87 

         

Total Directors and Key 
Management Personnel 

        

12 months to 30 June 2013 2,043,587 56,481 80,756 24,269 291,693 2,496,033 11.69 14.92 



Crusader Resources Limited Annual Report 31 December 2013 

 

16 

 

5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜǇƻǊǘ όŎƻƴǘƛƴǳŜŘύ 
 
Remuneration Report ς audited (continued) 
 

1 Current period bonus paid to Mr. A. Beigel for meeting corporate and licensing objectives. 
2 Prior year bonus paid to Mr. P. Stephen for meeting marketing and promotional objectives. 
3 Prior year bonus paid to Mr. A. Beigel for meeting corporate and licensing objectives. 
4 Prior year bonus paid to Mr. M. Schmulian for meeting feasibility study objectives. 
 

Compensation options granted and vested during the period (consolidated) 
 
Compensation options issued to Directors and Key Management Personnel that vested during the six month period 
ending 31 December 2013 are shown below: 

 

Granted 
Number 

Granted 
Options 

Vested 
Number 
During 
Period 

Grant Date 
Value per 
Option at 

Grant Date 

Exercise 
Price 

 

First 
Exercise 

Date 

Last 
Exercise 

Date 

        

P. Stephen - 500,000 19 Nov 10 $0.56 $0.70 22 Aug 13 22 Aug 15 

A. Beigel - 125,000 25 Aug 10 $0.33 $0.56 22 Aug 13 22 Aug 15 

M. Schmulian - 125,000 25 Aug 10 $0.33 $0.56 22 Aug 13 22 Aug 15 

A. Platel - 125,000 25 Aug 10 $0.34 $0.44 1 Aug 13   1 Aug 15 

Total - 875,000      

 
Compensation options issued to Directors and Key Management Personnel that vested during the twelve month 
period ending 30 June 2013 are shown below: 

 

Granted 
Number 

Granted 
Options 

Vested 
Number 
During 
Year 

Grant Date 
Value per 
Option at 

Grant Date 

Exercise 
Price 

 

First 
Exercise 

Date 

Last 
Exercise 

Date 

        

R. Smakman - 750,000 1 Apr 11 $0.64 $1.30 31 Dec 12 31 Dec 13 

Total - 750,000      

 
The following grants of share-based payment compensation to Directors and Key Management Personnel relate to 
the current financial period: 
 

Directors and 
Key 

Management 
Personnel 

Option Series 
No. 

Granted 
No. Vested 

% of 
Grant 
Vested 

% of 
Grant 
Lapsed 

 

% of 
Compensation 
for the Period 
Consisting of 

Options 

S. Copulos   8 August 2013    500,000 - - - 10.30 

R. Smakman   8 August 2013 1,000,000 - - -   5.83 

P. Stephen   8 August 2013    500,000 - - - 11.33 

J. Evans   8 August 2013    330,000 - - - 12.65 

M. Ferreira   8 August 2013    330,000 - - - 13.16 

D. Netherway   8 August 2013    330,000 - - - 13.16 
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Remuneration Report ς audited (continued) 
 
Shares issued on Exercise of Compensation Options 
During the period, no Directors or Key Management Personnel exercised options that were granted to them as part 
of their compensation (2013: nil). 

 
Value of options issued to Key Management Personnel 
The following table summarises the value of options granted, exercised or lapsed during the financial period to the 
identified Directors and Key Management Personnel: 

 

 Value of options granted 
during the period 

$ 

Value of options exercised 
during the period 

$ 

Value of options lapsed 
during the period  

$ 

S. Copulos  29,483            -         - 
R. Smakman  55,934 - - 
P. Stephen  27,461 - - 
J. Evans  19,459 - - 
M. Ferreira  19,459 - - 
D. Netherway  19,459 - - 

 
Options holdings of Directors and Key Management Personnel όάYatέύ 

 

 Balance at  1 
July 13 

Granted as 
remuneration 

Options 
lapsed 

Options 
exercised 

Balance at  
31 Dec 13 

Not vested 
and not 

exercisable at 
31 Dec 13 

Vested and 
exercisable at 

31 Dec 13 

Options 
vested during 

the peroid 

Directors         

S. Copulos - 500,000 - - 500,000 500,000 - - 

R. Smakman 1,500,000 1,000,000 (1,500,000) - 1,000,000 1,000,000 - - 

P. Stephen 1,000,000 500,000 - - 1,500,000 500,000 1,000,000 500,000 

J. Evans - 330,000 - - 330,000 330,000 - - 

M. Ferreira - 330,000 - - 330,000 330,000 - - 

D. Netherway 210,000 330,000 - - 540,000 330,000 210,000 - 

KMP   - -     

A. Beigel 475,000 - - - 475,000 225,000 250,000 125,000 

M. Schmulian 475,000 - - - 475,000 225,000 250,000 125,000 

A. Platel 475,000 - - - 475,000 225,000 250,000 125,000 

W. Foote
1 

1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 1,000,000 - - 

Total 5,135,000 2,990,000  (1,500,000) - 6,625,000 4,665,000 1,960,000 875,000 

1 Mr. W. Foote was issued 1,000,000 options upon entering his employment contract in May 2013, 
but did not commence until 1 August 2013. Therefore, he did not satisfy the definition of a Key 
Management Personnel as at 30 June 2013, and his options were therefore omitted from the above 
table in the June 2013 annual report.  
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Remuneration Report ς audited (continued) 

 
 Balance at  1 

July 12 
Granted as 

remuneration 
Options 
lapsed 

Options 
exercised 

Balance at  
30 June 13 

Not vested 
and not 

exercisable at 
30 June 13 

Vested and 
exercisable at 

30 June 13 

Options 
vested during 

the year 

Directors         

R. Smakman 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 - 1,500,000 750,000 

P. Stephen 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 500,000 500,000 - 

D. Netherway 210,000 - - - 210,000 - 210,000 - 

KMP         

A. Beigel 250,000 225,000 - - 475,000 350,000 125,000 - 

M. Schmulian 250,000 225,000 - - 475,000 350,000 125,000 - 

A. Platel 250,000 225,000 - - 475,000 350,000 125,000 - 

Total 3,460,000 675,000 - - 4,135,000 1,550,000 2,585,000 750,000 

 
Share holdings of Directors and Key Management Personnel όάYatέύ 

 

  
Balance at   
1 July 13 

Shares issued on 
exercise of 

options 

 
Shares Purchased 

 
Net Other 
Changes 

 
Shares 
Sold 

 
Balance at          

31 December 13 

Directors       

S. Copulos* 11,446,035 - 1,034,241 - - 12,480,276 

R. Smakman 2,717,426 - - - - 2,717,426 

P. Stephen 3,443,780 - - - - 3,443,780 

D. Netherway 35,000 - - - - 35,000 

KMP       

A. Beigel 308,458 - - - - 308,458 

Total 17,950,699 - - - - 18,984,940 
 
 

  
Balance at  
1 July 12 

Shares issued on 
exercise of 

options 

 
Shares Purchased 

 
Net Other 
Changes 

 
Shares 
Sold 

 
Balance at          
30 June 13 

Directors       

S. Copulos* 11,446,035 - - - - 11,446,035 

R. Smakman 2,617,426 - 100,000 - - 2,717,426 

P. Stephen 3,443,780 - - - - 3,443,780 

D. Netherway 35,000 - - - - 35,000 

KMP       

A. Beigel 208,458 - 100,000 - - 308,458 

Total 17,750,699 - 200,000 - - 17,950,699 

 
*Shares held by S. Copulos prior to being appointed to the Board of Directors. 

 
Loans to Directors and Key Management Personnel 
There were no loans to any Directors or Key Management Personnel during the period. 
 
Specific transactions with Directors and Key Management Personnel 
There were no transactions with any Directors or Key Management Personnel that were more favourable than those 
available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, to non-ǊŜƭŀǘŜŘ ǇŀǊǘƛŜǎ ƻƴ ŀƴ ŀǊƳΩǎ ƭŜƴƎǘƘ ōŀǎƛǎΦ 
 
This ends the audited Remuneration Report. 

 
  



Crusader Resources Limited Annual Report 31 December 2013 

 

19 

 

5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜǇƻǊǘ όŎƻƴǘƛƴǳŜŘύ 
 
5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ ōŜƴŜŦƛǘǎ 
No Director of the Company has received, or become entitled to receive, any benefit because of a contract that the 
Director, or a firm of which the Director is a member, or an entity in which the Director has substantial financial 
interest, made with the Company, or with an entity that the Company controlled, or with a body corporate that was 
related to the Company, other than the benefits included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received, or due 
and receivable, by the Directors and disclosed in Note 8 to the Financial Statements. 
 
Corporate governance 
In recognizing the need for high standards of corporate behavior and accountability, the Directors support and have 
substantially adhered to the best practice recommendation set by the ASX Corporate Governance Council.  
 
Committee memberships 
The Company maintains an Audit and Risk Committee, and a Remuneration Committee which consist of the following 
Directors: 
 

Audit and Risk Committee Remuneration Committee 

J. Evans (Chairman) S. Copulos (Chairman) 
S. Copulos J. Evans 
M. Ferreira D. Netherway 

 
Meetings of Directors 
The number of DirectorǎΩ ƳŜŜǘƛƴƎǎ ƘŜƭŘ ŘǳǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǇŜǊƛƻŘ and the numbers of meetings attended by each 
Director were: 
  

 DirectorsΩ meetings Remuneration 
Committee meetings 

Audit and Risk                
Committee meetings 

Directors Eligible Attended Eligible Attended Eligible Attended 

S. Copulos 3 3 2 2 3 3 
R. Smakman  3 3 - - - - 
P. Stephen 3 3 - - - - 
J. Evans 3 3 2 2 3 3 
M. Ferreira  3 3 - - 3 3 
D. Netherway 3 2 2 2 - - 

 
Auditor independence 
¢ƘŜ ŀǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ ƛƴŘŜǇŜƴŘŜƴŎŜ ŘŜŎƭŀǊŀǘƛƻƴ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ financial period ended 31 December 2013 has been received and is to 
be found on page 76. 
 
Non-audit services 
No non-audit services were provided by the entity's auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and no fees were paid or are 
payable to Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for non-audit services for the financial period ended 31 December 2013. 
 
This report is signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to Section 298(2) of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 
 
On behalf of the directors 

 
R. Smakman 
Managing Director 
Perth 
25 March 2014 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
and Compliance with Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations. 

 
Crusader Resources [ƛƳƛǘŜŘ όάǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅέύΣ ǘƻƎŜǘƘŜǊ ǿƛǘƘ ƛǘǎ ǎǳōǎƛŘƛŀǊȅ ŜƴǘƛǘƛŜǎ όάǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇέύΣ and the Board of 
Directors, are committed to achieving and demonstrating the highest standards of corporate governance, consistent 
with the size and nature of the Group. This statement outlines the main corporate governance practices in place 
throughout the current financial period.  
 
The ASX Corporate Governance Council released revised Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations on 2 
August 2007 with further amendments in June 2010, and this Statement complies with those revised principles. 
  
Having regard to the size of the Group and the nature of its enterprise, the Board considers that the Group complies 
ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ǎǇƛǊƛǘ ŀƴŘ ƛƴǘŜƴǘƛƻƴǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ !{· /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ DƻǾŜǊƴŀƴŎŜ /ƻǳƴŎƛƭΩǎ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ DƻǾŜǊƴŀƴŎŜ tǊƛƴŎƛǇƭŜǎ ŀƴŘ 
Recommendations as far as is possible and appropriate. 
 
CHARTER FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 
An important and basic corporate governance policy is the Charter for the Board of Directors which is reviewed each 
year. The Charter is a composite document which deals with all of the ASX corporate governance principles and 
ƎǳƛŘŜƭƛƴŜǎ ŀƴŘ ƛǎ ŀǾŀƛƭŀōƭŜ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǿŜō site - www.crusaderresources.com. 
 
¢ƘŜ /ƘŀǊǘŜǊΣ ŀǎ ǎǳǇǇƻǊǘŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊΩǎ /ƻŘŜ ƻŦ /ƻƴŘǳŎǘ (detailed at Principle 3), includes requirements for the 
following: 

¶ the role of the Board; 

¶ the Board structure; 

¶ the skills required on the Board; and 

¶ tƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊΩǎ ƎŜƴŜǊŀƭ ǊƻƭŜǎΦ 
 
The relevant references in the Charter are noted under each of the principles listed below. 
 
ASX PRINCIPLES OF GOOD CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 
The following is a summary of the eight Corporate Governance Principles, including comments where applicable, on the 
Recommendations, and extracts from the policies adopted by the Group which demonstrate how compliance has been 
achieved. 
 
PRINCIPLE 1: Lay Solid Foundations for Management & Oversight 
 
Operations of the Board 
The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for all aspects of the management of the group.  The Board 
guides and monitors the businesses and affairs of the Group on behalf of the Security Holders, and is committed to 
achieving and demonstrating the highest suitable standards of corporate governance commensurate with the size of 
the Group and the nature of the business. The principal functions, responsibilities and performance review 
requirements of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer are detailed in the Charter for the Board of Directors. The 
Chairman reviews the performance of the Board on an annual basis. 
 
The functions, responsibilities, remuneration and terms of each DƛǊŜŎǘƻǊΩǎ ŀǇǇƻƛƴǘƳŜƴǘ ŀǊŜ ŘŜǘŀƛƭŜŘ ƛƴ ƛƴŘƛǾƛŘǳŀƭ 
Letters of Appointment, as are the same for Senior Executives in individual Employment Agreements, all prepared in 
accordance with the guidelines included in the Charter for the Board of Directors. 
 
  

http://www.crusaderresources.com/
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Board Responsibilities 
As the Board acts on behalf of and is accountable to the Security Holders, the Board seeks to satisfy the Security 
IƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ financial and management expectations, as well as other regulatory and ethical expectations and obligations.  
In addition, the Board is responsible for identifying areas of significant business risk and ensuring arrangements are in 
place to adequately manage those risks.  
 
¢ƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ ŀǇǇƻƛƴǘǎ ŀ /ƘƛŜŦ 9ȄŜŎǳǘƛǾŜ hŦŦƛŎŜǊ όά/9hέύ ǿƘƻΣ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ǇǳǊǇƻǎŜǎ ƻŦ ǘƘƛǎ {ǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘ Ŏŀƴ be either a 
aŀƴŀƎƛƴƎ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊ όάa5έύ ƻǊ ŀ DŜƴŜǊŀƭ aŀƴŀƎŜǊ όάGMέ), and the responsibility for the operation and administration 
of the Group is delegated to that person and their Executive team. 
 
The Board has in place proper procedures to assess the performance of the MD/GM and their Executive team and to 
ensure that the Executive team is appropriately qualified and experienced to discharge their responsibilities.  
 
¢ƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ ƛǎ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƭŜ ŦƻǊ ŜƴǎǳǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŀǘ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘΩǎ ƻōƧŜŎǘƛǾŜǎΣ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ŀƴŘ ƻǳǘŎƻƳŜǎ ŀre aligned to the 
expectations, vision and business risks, identified by the Board. The Board has a number of mechanisms in place to 
ensure this is achieved including receipt of detailed reports and regular personal presentations to the Board by 
Department Heads and other Senior Executives, which allows the Board to discuss relevant matters with those 
individuals and to ask questions on their performance, problems and issues. 
 
Board Policies 
Board policies or obligations have been established in the following areas: 
 
¶ diversity; 
¶ continuous disclosure; 
¶ dealing in securities; 
¶ related party dealings; 
¶ conflict of interest and external advice; 
¶ release of information; 
¶ significant business risks; and 
¶ ethical standards. 
 
Diversity 
The Board has always been aware of the advantages that may flow from diversity in respect to gender, age, ethnicity 
and cultural background, and has taken those factors into account when considering new appointments at all levels 
within the Group. During the period under review there were no female Directors, five mature age employees, and 
thirty-six female employees within the Group, out of an aggregate of one-hundred and thirty-four staff including  
directors, management and other employees. 
 
The Board has adopted a Diversity Policy which is provided in full below. In addition, the Board also adopted a 
Diversity Strategy which includes measurable objectives for achieving cultural, gender and age diversity, and the 
progress in achieving the objectives will be reported in each Annual Report to shareholders. 
 
Diversity Policy 
The Diversity Policy adopted by the Board is as follows: 
 
1. General Purposes and Principle 
The Company respects and values the competitive advantage of "diversity", and the benefits of its integration 
throughout the Company, in order to enrich the Company's perspective, improve corporate performance, increase 
shareholder value, and enhance the probability of achievement of the Company's objectives (άPrinciple"). 
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This Principle will manifest itself in the following areas: 
  

(A)    strategic and operational: 
 (i) being attuned to diverse strategies to deliver the DǊƻǳǇΩǎ objectives; 

(ii) being attuned to diverse corporate, business and market opportunities; and 
(iii)    being attuned to diverse tactics and means to achieve those strategies in (i) and to take 

advantage of those opportunities in (ii). 
 
(B)   management: 

(i)  adding to, nurturing and developing the collective skills and diverse experience of personnel 
within the Company relevant to their positions; 

(ii)  ensuring the DǊƻǳǇΩǎ culture and management systems are aligned with, and promote, the 
attainment of the Principle, including having regard for domestic responsibilities. 

 
[Note: in the context of paragraph (B) "Diversity" constitutes people at relevant levels within the Group (including, 
Board, Senior Executives, Management and otherwise) with a diverse blend of skills, experiences, perspectives, styles 
and attributes gained from life's journey, including on account of their culture, gender, age or otherwise.] 
 

(iii)     the Group will develop strategies, initiatives and programs to promote the Principle, including the 
achievement of gender diversity with respect to the matters referred to in paragraph (B); 

(iv)   in particular, the Company will set measurable objectives, and targets or Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs), for the strategies, initiatives and programs to achieve gender diversity with 
respect to the matters referred to in paragraph (B); 

(v)    the Group will implement the strategies, initiatives, programs and measurable objectives referred 
to in (iii) and (iv); 

(vi) management will monitor, review and report to the Board (including via the Nomination 
Committee and  the Remuneration Committee), on the achievement of gender diversity with 
respect to the matters referred to in paragraph 1B, and the Groups progress under this policy. 

 
2. Responsibility for the Policy 
Although the Board retains ultimate accountability for this Policy, the Board has delegated responsibility for Policy 
implementation to the CEO. In turn the CEO has delegated to the Company Secretary responsibility for administration 
of this Policy (including its reporting to the Board and its relevant sub-committees, as appropriate). 
 
3. Measurable objectives, targets and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) - Gender Diversity 

With respect to gender diversity, management will: 

 
(A)           develop, for approval by the Board or its relevant sub-committee, as appropriate: 

(i) measurable objectives concerning the strategies, initiatives and programs referred to in 

paragraph 1(B)(iii); 

(ii) targets or KPIs to verify progress towards attainment of those measurable objectives. 

(B) measure performance against those targets and KPIs; 
(C) report from time to time on the progress of the matters referred to in (A) and (B). 

 
4. Compliance Requirements 
The Group will meet its obligations with respect to the issue of "Diversity", as may be required under the ASX 
Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (2nd Edition) ("ASX Principles") and other regulatory 
requirements (if any) including by: 
 

(A) establishing this Policy as a compliant policy under ASX Guideline 3.2(a) by: 
 (i) establishing measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity; 

(ii) the Board assessing annually the measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity and the 
progress in achieving them. 
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(B) disclosing this policy or a summary of it under ASX Guideline 3.2(b); 
 

(C) in its Annual Report, and in the terms of ASX Guideline 2.4, disclosing the processes the Board adopts   
and the criteria the Board takes into consideration in its selection of prospective new Board members; 

 
(D) in its Annual Report, and in the terms of ASX Principles 3.3 and 3.4, disclosing: 

(i) the measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity set by the Board in the terms of this 
Policy; 

(ii) the progress from time to time towards achieving them; 
(iii) the proportions in the Company (relative to their male counterparts) of: 

(a) female employees; 
(b) females in senior executive positions; 
(c) females on the Board. 

 
(E) incorporating in the corporate governance statement in the Company's Annual  Report a  statement as 

to the mix of skills and diversity that the Board is looking to achieve in membership of the Board, in the 
terms of ASX Guideline 2.6. 

 
The Company Secretary will assume line responsibility to ensure the Group meets its compliance and reporting 
obligations referred to within this section, including by collecting and collating all relevant data and ensuring that 
management processes and systems are adequate and effective for such reporting obligations to be met. 
 

5. Communication 
The Company commits to the communication of this policy within the Group, and to its shareholders and the market, 
including via its web site: 

¶ by way of transparency and accountability; and 

¶ to better promote the prospects of attainment of the Principle. 

 
6. Accountability 
Reporting and accountability in the terms of this Policy will be a periodic item on the Board agenda. 
 
At least annually the Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee will report to the Board on progress 
towards attainment of the Principle with respect to the matters referred to in paragraph 1(B), and otherwise, to 
facilitate the Board in meeting its Compliance requirements under paragraph 4. 
 
7. Addenda to this Policy 
The following shall constitute addenda to this Policy, as if set out within this Policy: 

(A) approved strategies, initiatives, programs, measurable objectives, other targets and KPIs referred to in 
paragraph 1(C); and 

(B) approved measurable objectives, targets and KPIs referred to in paragraph 1(D), as may apply from time 
to time. 

8. Overriding Caveat 
Nothing in this policy shall be taken, interpreted or construed so as to endorse: 
 

(A) the principle criteria for selection and promotion of people to work within the Group, other than their 
overall relative prospect of adding value to the Group and enhancing the probability of achievement of 
the Groups objectives; 

(B) any discriminatory behaviour by or within the Group contrary to the law, or any applicable codes of 
conduct or behaviour for the Group or its personnel; 

(C) any existing person within the Group in any way feeling threatened or prejudiced by this policy in their 
career development or otherwise, merely because their Diversity attributes at any time may be more, 
rather than less, common with others. 
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Diversity Strategy 
The Diversity Strategy lists the strategies, initiatives and programs, measurable objectives, targets and KPIs adopted by 
the Board for the Group. Many of the strategies, initiatives and programs have already been achieved or put in place, 
necessitating amendments to the Charter for the Board of Directors, and to the Charter for the Nomination 
Committee and Remuneration Committee. The amended Charters may be viewed on the Company's web site. 
 
The Strategy includes initiatives, programs designed to foster Diversity at Board level, at Executive and Management 
level and generally, commensurate with the nature and size of the Group. Progress with achievement of the Diversity 
Strategy will be reviewed by the Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee on an annual basis and the 
results reported to the Board. Progress will also be reported each year in the Directors' Report of the Annual Report. 
 
The Role of the Chairman 
The role of the Chairman is clearly defined in the Charter for the Board of Directors. In summary, the Chairman is 
responsible for leading the Board, ensuring Directors are properly briefed in all matters relevant to their roles and 
ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎΣ ŦŀŎƛƭƛǘŀǘƛƴƎ .ƻŀǊŘ ŘƛǎŎǳǎǎƛƻƴǎ ŀƴŘ ƳŀƴŀƎƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘΩǎ ǊŜƭŀǘƛƻƴǎƘƛǇ ǿƛǘƘ ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎ ŀƴŘ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ 
/ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ Senior Executives. In view of the small size of the Group and the small number of Directors, the Chairman 
continually reviews the performance of the Board and the individual Directors on an informal basis. 
 
The Role of the CEO 
The role of the CEO is also clearly defined in the Charter for the Board of Directors. In summary, the CEO is responsible 
for implementing the Group strategies and policies, achieving the Group objectives and managing the business of the 
Group. The performance of the CEO is reviewed each year by the Remuneration Committee at the time the CEO's 
Remuneration Agreement is reviewed. The CEO reviews the performance of the Senior Executives on an annual basis. 
 
Board Committees 
Establishment of Board committees is commensurate with the size of the Group as set out in each relevant Principle 
below. Detailed Terms of Reference or Charters have been adopted for each committee. If a specific committee has 
not been formed, the relevant Terms of Reference or Charters have still been adopted, however the responsibilities 
are handled directly by the Board. Summaries of the responsibilities and membership of the committees is provided at 
each relevant Principle. 
 
Governance 
In view of the small size of the Group, the duty of governance is handled by the full Board and dealt with in 
accordance with the Charter for the Board of Directors and the Directors' Code of Conduct. 
 
PRINCIPLE 2: Structure The Board To Add Value 
 
The composition of the Board is determined in accordance with the following principles and guidelines: 

¶ the Board should comprise at least three, and no more than nine, Directors (determined by the 
Constitution). 

¶ the Chairman should preferably be an independent Director. Currently, the Chairman, Mr. Stephen Copulos, 
is a Non-Executive Director but is not independent by virtue of a shareholding in the Group of greater than 
5%.  Given the small size of the Group, and Mr. /ƻǇǳƭƻǎΩǎ ƘƛǎǘƻǊȅ ƻŦ ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘƛƴƎ ǎǳǇǇƻǊǘ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ Group, the 
Board considers that the Group benefits from having Mr. Copulos as a Non-Executive, although not 
independent, Chairman. 

¶ the Board shall comprise Directors with a diverse and appropriate range of qualifications and expertise 
including mining, mineral exploration, marketing, diversity attributes and accounting/finance, and in the 
event of retirement of a Director with particular expertise, the Board, with the assistance of the 
Remuneration Committee, will seek to appoint a Director with the skills, experience and diversity attributes 
required to balance the needs of the Board in the operations of the Group, in accordance with the Diversity 
Strategy adopted by the Board. 

¶ the Board shall meet bi-monthly, unless otherwise agreed by the Directors, and follow meeting guidelines 
established to ensure that all Directors are made aware of, and have available, all necessary information in 
a timely manner, to participate in an informed discussion of all agenda items. 

¶ the Directors of the Group are elected at a General Meeting. 
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The Directors in office at the date of this statement and during the reporting period were: 
 

¶ Non-Executive Chairman  Stephen Copulos 

¶ Managing Director  Rob Smakman 

¶ Executive Director  Paul Stephen 

¶ Independent Director  David Netherway 

¶ Independent Director  Mauricio Ferreira 

¶ Independent Director  John Evans 
 
The Board maintains strict protocols to ensure that any potential or actual conflicts of interest and duty are properly 
identified and managed, to ensure Directors act in accordance with their fiduciary responsibilities. 
 
Independent Directors are independent of management, do not have a substantial shareholding (i.e. less than 5%), 
and are free from any business or other relationship which could materially interfere with the exercise of their 
judgment. The commentary provided by the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Guidelines has been 
considered when evaluating the independence of the Directors concerned. 
 
Non-Executive Directors are independent of management, but either have or control a substantial shareholding in the 
Group,( i.e. 5% or more). As at the date of this report, Mr. Stephen Copulos controlled a holding of greater than 5%. 
 
¢ƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊΩǎ /ƻŘŜ ƻŦ /ƻƴŘǳŎǘ ŘŜǘŀƛƭŜŘ ƛƴ tǊƛƴŎƛǇƭŜ о ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜǎ ŀƴ ŀŎƪƴƻǿƭŜŘƎŜƳŜƴǘ ǘƘŀǘ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ Ƴŀȅ ƻōǘŀƛƴ 
independent legal advice in order to discharge their duties properly. 

 
PRINCIPLE 3: Promote Ethical and Responsible Decision-Making 
 
The Charter for the Board of Directors deals with this issue in respect of Directors, Senior Executives, other staff and 
consultants of the Group. 
 
¢ƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ Ƙŀǎ ŀŘƻǇǘŜŘ ŀ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ /ƻŘŜ ƻŦ /ƻƴŘǳŎǘ ǿƘƛŎƘ ŎƭŀǊƛŦƛŜǎ ǘƘŜ ǎǘŀƴŘŀǊŘǎ ƻŦ ŜǘƘƛŎŀƭ ōŜƘŀǾƛƻǳǊ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜŘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 
Directors, ŀƴŘ ƛǎ ǊŜƭŜǾŀƴǘ ǘƻ ǎŜǾŜǊŀƭ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ !{· /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ DƻǾŜǊƴŀƴŎŜ tǊƛƴŎƛǇƭŜǎΦ ¢ƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ /ƻŘŜ ƻŦ /ƻƴŘǳŎǘ ƛǎ 
available on the CompaƴȅΩǎ ǿŜō site. The following is a summary: 
 
5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ /ƻŘŜ ƻŦ /ƻƴŘǳŎǘ hǾŜǊǾƛŜǿ 
The Code of Conduct outlines the principles and standards Directors are required to abide by, and governs the way in 
which each of the Directors should conduct themselves in the discharge of their duties. This Code of Conduct should 
operate in addition to relevant laws that are in force from time to time and also in conjunction with all other Board 
Governance Policies. 

1. Directors must act honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of the Group as a whole at all times; 
2. Directors have a duty to use due care and diligence in fulfilling the functions of office and exercising the 

powers attached to that office;   
3. Directors must always use the powers of the office for a proper purpose; 
4. Directors must recognise that their primary responsibility is to the GroupΩǎ members as a whole but must, 

where appropriate, have regard for the interests of all stakeholders of the Group; 
5. Directors must not make improper use of information acquired as a Director; 
6. Directors must not allow personal interests, or the interests of any Associated Person, to conflict with the 

interests of the Group; 
7. Directors have an obligation to be independent in judgment and actions and to take all reasonable steps to 

be satisfied as to the soundness of all decisions taken by the Board; 
8. /ƻƴŦƛŘŜƴǘƛŀƭ ƛƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴ ǊŜŎŜƛǾŜŘ ōȅ ŀ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŎƻǳǊǎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŜȄŜǊŎƛǎŜ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ ŘǳǘƛŜǎ ǊŜƳŀƛƴǎ ǘƘŜ 

property of the Group, and it is improper to disclose it, or allow it to be disclosed, unless that disclosure has 
been authorised by the Group, or is required by law; 

9. Directors should not engage in conduct likely to bring discredit upon the Group; 
10. Directors have an obligation, at all times, to comply with the spirit, as well as the letter of the law and with 

the principles of this Code. 
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The Charter for the Board of Directors includes detailed guidelines for interpretation of the principles of the Code of 
Conduct. 
 
Charter for the Board of Directors 
The Charter for the Board of Directors is structured to promote ethical and responsible decision-making throughout 
the Group.  All Directors, Senior Executives, other staff and consultants of the Group are expected to act with integrity 
and objectivity and to maintain appropriate ethical standards. All staff, regardless of their level,  have the following 
duties:  

¶ to act honestly, fairly and without prejudice in all commercial dealings and to conduct business with 
professional courtesy and integrity; 

¶ to work in a safe, healthy and efficient manner, using their skills, time and experience to the maximum of 
their ability; 

¶ to comply with applicable awards, Group policies and job requirements; 

¶ not to knowingly make any misleading statements to any person or to be a party to any improper practice 
in relation to dealings with, or by, the Group; 

¶ to ensure that the GroupΩǎ resources and property are used properly; 

¶ not to disclose information or documents relating to the Group or its business, other than as required by 
law and/or the ASX Listing Rules, and not to misuse any information about the Group. 

 
Trading in Company Securities 
¢ƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ ŀŘƻǇǘŜŘ ŀƴ ǳǇŘŀǘŜŘ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎϥ ŀƴŘ hŦŦƛŎŜǊǎΩ {ƘŀǊŜ ¢ǊŀŘƛƴƎ tƻƭƛŎȅ ƻƴ мр !ǇǊƛƭ нлмо ǿƘƛŎƘ ŀǇǇƭƛŜǎ ǘƻ ŀƭƭ 
Directors, Senior Executives, other staff and consultants of the Group and supports this Principle through its provisions 
against insider ǘǊŀŘƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ ƳŀǊƪŜǘ ƳŀƴƛǇǳƭŀǘƛƻƴΦ ¢ƘŜ tƻƭƛŎȅ ƛǎ ŀǾŀƛƭŀōƭŜ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǿŜō site. In summary the 
trading restrictions are: 
 
Inside Information 
If a Designated Person has Inside Information (as defined in the Policy) relating to the Group, it is illegal for the 
Designated Person to: 

(a) deal in (that is, apply for, acquire, or dispose of) the Securities, or enter into an agreement to do so; or 

(b) procure another person to deal in (that is, apply for, acquire, or dispose of) the Securities, or enter into 
an agreement to do so; or 

(c) directly or indirectly communicate, or cause to be communicated, that information to any other 
person if the Designated Person knows, or ought reasonably to know, that the person would, or would 
be likely to, use the information to engage in the activities specified in paragraphs (a) or (b) above. 

 
5ŜǎƛƎƴŀǘŜŘ tŜǊǎƻƴǎ Ƴŀȅ ƻƴƭȅ ŘŜŀƭ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǎŜŎǳǊƛǘƛŜǎ ƛŦ ǘƘŜȅ ŦƛǊǎǘ ƻōǘŀƛƴ ŀǇǇǊƻǾŀƭ ǘƻ Řƻ ǎƻ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ tƻƭƛŎȅ 
includes a procedure to obtain approval. 
 
Closed Periods 
Designated Persons ŀǊŜ ƴƻǘ ǇŜǊƳƛǘǘŜŘ ǘƻ ōǳȅ ƻǊ ǎŜƭƭ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǎƘŀǊŜǎ ǿƛǘƘƛƴ a period of 5 days preceding an 
announcement of a major event or release of price sensitive information. 
 
Excluded Trading 
Certain types of share trading transactions which are beyond the control of the Designated Person, or result in no 
change to the beneficial holding of the Designated Person,, are excluded from the restrictions imposed by the trading 
policy.  
 
PRINCIPLE 4: Safeguard Integrity in Financial Reporting 
 
The Audit Committee is charged with safeguarding the integrity of the GroupΩǎ financial reporting by advising on, and 
supervising, internal controls and appropriate ethical standards for the financial and operational management and risk 
management of the Group. The Committee also confirms the quality and reliability of the financial information 
prepared. The Group has adopted a detailed Charter for the Committee. 
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The Charter for the Board of Directors sets out the membership and responsibilities of the Committee as follows:  
 
The Committee will comprise at least two independent Directors, one of whom will chair the meetings, and should not 
contain any Executive directors. The Committee responsibilities are: 

1. to review the adequacy of systems and standards of internal control with emphasis on risk management, 
financial reporting procedures and compliance; 

2. to review proposed announcements of financial results, financial statements, management questionnaires 
and external audit reports in advance of the Board; 

3. to receive any information it requires from management; 

4. to report its findings and recommendations directly to the Board; 

5. to provide a direct link from the Board to the external auditor, to nominate the external auditor from time 
to time as required, and to review the adequacy, scope and quality of the annual statutory audit and half 
year audit review; 

6. to assess whether non-audit services provided by the external auditor are consistent with maintaining the 
ŜȄǘŜǊƴŀƭ ŀǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ ƛƴŘŜǇŜƴŘŜƴŎŜΦ 9ŀŎƘ ǊŜǇƻǊǘƛƴƎ ǇŜǊƛƻŘ ǘƘŜ ŜȄǘŜǊƴŀƭ ŀǳŘƛǘƻǊ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜǎ ŀƴ ƛƴŘŜǇŜƴŘŜƴŎŜ 
declaration in relation to the audit or review; and 

7. to provide advice to the Board in respect of whether the provision of the non-audit services by the external 
auditor is compatible with the general standard of independence of auditors imposed by the Corporations 
Act 2001 (Cth). 

During the current  period, the members of the Committee were independent directors Messrs John Evans 
(Chairman), Mauricio Ferreira and Non-Executive Director, Mr. Stephen Copulos. Details of the qualifications and 
experience of the Committee members is set out on Pages 5 - 6.   
 
The Chairman of the Audit Committee meets separately with the auditors as required from time to time to discuss the 
ŀǳŘƛǘ ǊŜǾƛŜǿǎ ŀƴŘ ǊŜǇƻǊǘǎΣ ǘƻ ŜƴǎǳǊŜ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜǊŜ ŀǊŜ ƴƻ ƻǳǘǎǘŀƴŘƛƴƎ ƛǎǎǳŜǎ ŀƴŘ ǘƻ ŀǎǎŜǎǎ ǘƘŜ ŀǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ ŎƻƴǘƛƴǳƛƴƎ 
independence. 
 
The auditor is invited to attend the Annual General Meeting and to be available to answer any questions the 
Shareholders may care to ask with respect to the Financial Statements of the Group. The Group has not yet adopted 
formal procedures for the selection, appointment and rotation of external auditors.  However the annual audit fee 
negotiations are very robust and alternate quotes are obtained if considered necessary. 
 
Each year the CEO will provide a statement to the Board in writing with respect to the integrity of the Financial 
Statements and the efficient and effective operation of the risk management and internal compliance and control 
systems. 
 
9ŀŎƘ ȅŜŀǊ ǘƘŜ /9h ǿƛƭƭ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜ ŀ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ όǎŜŜ ǘƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜǇƻǊǘύ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ GroupΩǎ Financial 
Statements represent a true and fair view, in all material respects, and that the DǊƻǳǇΩs financial condition and 
operational results are in accordance with the relevant accounting standards. The statement also confirms that the 
assurance is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and control which implements 
the policies adopted by the Board. 
 
PRINCIPLE 5: Make Timely and Balanced Disclosure 
 
The Board has always been very conscious of its continuous and periodic disclosure obligations as set out in ASX 
Listing Rules 3 and 4, and has ensured that the requirements of those listing rules have been met at all times. The 
standard Board meeting agenda includes a review of past, current and forthcoming events and results to determine if 
there is information that should be disclosed in accordance with the DǊƻǳǇΩs Continuous and Periodic Disclosure 
Policy. The GroupΩǎ Continuous and Periodic Disclosure Policy is reinforced in the Charter for the Board of Directors. 
The policy is as follows: 
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Policy 
The Group will do all things necessary to ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rules 3 and 4, and to follow the 
guidelines and best practice recommendations as set out in ASX Principle 5, where, in the opinion of the Board, those 
guidelines and recommendations are appropriate to the Group. 
 
Policy Objectives 

1. to establish a vetting and authorisation process designed to ensure that Group announcements: 

¶ are made in a timely manner; 

¶ are factual; 

¶ do not omit material information; and 

¶ are expressed in a clear and objective manner that allows investors to assess the impact of the 
information when making investment decisions; 

2. to establish a process to promote understanding of compliance within the Group; 

3. to safeguard the confidentiality of corporate information to avoid premature disclosure. 
 
With respect to Periodic Disclosure, the ASX Listing Rules and Guidelines require that the Board ensure that the 
Security Holders and the market are periodically provided with all information necessary to assess the performance of 
the Group and the Directors. 
 
Information to allow investors to monitor the performance of the Group is communicated by means of: 

¶ the Annual Report which is available for distribution to all Security Holders; 

¶ the Half-Yearly Report which is available for distribution to all Security Holders; 

¶ periodic reports and special reports when matters of material interest arise; 

¶ the Annual General Meeting, and other meetings, called to obtain approval of any Board action as 
required; and 

¶ the DǊƻǳǇΩǎ web site. 

 
Responsibility 
All Directors and the Company Secretary are responsible to ensure that the GroupΩǎ continuous and periodic 
disclosure policy is adhered to. The CEO works with the Chairman, Executive Director and the Company Secretary in 
respect to dealing with media contact and any external communications, such as analyst briefings. 
 
PRINCIPLE 6: Respect the Rights of Shareholders 

 
¢ƘŜ /ƘŀǊǘŜǊ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ /ƻŘŜ ƻŦ /ƻƴŘǳŎǘ (detailed at the beginning of this statement) 
ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎϥ ŀƴŘ hŦŦƛŎŜǊǎΩ {ƘŀǊŜ ¢ǊŀŘƛƴƎ tƻƭƛŎȅ (detailed at Principle 3), all recognise legal and other obligations 
and support the legitimate interests of all stakeholders. 
 
Fundamental to the rights of shareholders is an effective communication system utilising the methods detailed in 
Principle 5 and the DǊƻǳǇΩǎ web site. It is important to ensure a clear and balanced understanding of the aims and 
objectives of the Group, and the progress being made towards them is readily determinable by interested parties. 
 
The full text of Notices of Meetings and any Explanatory Memorandums, plus any other relevant announcements 
made to the market, and information provided to analysts, is placed on the DǊƻǳǇΩǎ web site immediately following 
release to the ASX. 
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PRINCIPLE 7: Recognise and Manage Risk 
 
The Charter for the Audit Committee requires the Committee to: 

¶ ensure the GroupΩǎ risk management policies and procedures are adequate; 

¶ monitor compliance with the GroupΩǎ risk management policies and procedures; 

¶ keep itself appraised of the latest developments, policies and trends in relation to financial matters, rules 
and regulations to the extent that they may affect the Group or the market(s) in which the Group 
operates; 

¶ oversee the establishment and implementation of a risk management system and review (at least 
annually) the effectiveness of the Group's implementation of that system; 

¶ review the Group's internal financial control mechanisms and risk management policies; 

¶ compile a risk profile of the material risks (including financial and non-financial matters) facing the Group; 

¶ establish and implement a system for identifying, assessing, monitoring and managing material risk 
throughout the Group; 

¶ review major non-financial regulatory matters through the use of a compliance monitoring reporting 
regime which covers the following areas of exposure: 
o environment; 
o safety and health; 
o asset protection (including insurance); 
o trade practices; 
o discrimination and harassment; 
o conflict of interest; and 
o ethical standards. 
 

Each year the Managing Director will provide a statement to the Board in writing in respect of the integrity of the 
Financial Statements and the efficient and effective operation of the risk management and internal compliance and 
control systems. 

 
PRINCIPLE 8: Remunerate Fairly and Responsibly 
 
The Board has established a Remuneration Committee charged with the responsibility to review and make 
recommendations to the Board on remuneration packages and policies related to the Non-Executive Directors, CEO, 
and Senior Executives of the Group, and to ensure that the remuneration policies and practices are consistent with 
the GroupΩǎ strategic goals and human resource objectives. 
 
The Committee, in conjunction with the Chairman of the Group, will review the performance of the CEO against the 
agreed parameters and KPIs, and such review shall take place during the period under review.  

During the current period, the members of the Remuneration Committee were Non-Executive Director Mr. S Copulos 
(Chairman), and independent Directors J. Evans and D. Netherway. 
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The Board has adopted a detailed Charter for the Remuneration Committee. The Charter includes the following: 

¶ objectives; 

¶ composition;  

¶ meetings; 

¶ access; and  

¶ duties and responsibilities including but not limited to: 
o recommendations for the appointment or removal of Directors; 
o assessment of necessary and desirable competencies including diversity attributes; 
o review of succession plans; 
o evaluation of Board performance; 
o advice on Director remuneration; 
o ŀŘǾƛŎŜ ƻƴ /9hΩ ǊŜƳǳƴŜǊŀǘƛƻƴΤ 
o advice on Senior Executive remuneration; 
o employment packaging; 
o staff policies and procedures; 
o general reporting; and 
o remuneration reviews. 

 
5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜƳǳƴŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ 
If an Executive Director is appointed, suitable remuneration will be approved by the Board. The Non-Executive 
5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ ŀǊŜ ǇŀƛŘ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊΩǎ ŦŜŜǎ ōȅ ǘƘŜ Group which may be in the form of a cash payment to the Director, cash 
conditional upon the purchase of shares in the Group or the issue of Options to acquire Shares (Options are subject to 
Shareholder approval). Proper expenses incurred in the course of the GroupΩǎ operations are reimbursed. The 
maximum aggregate amount of Non-9ȄŜŎǳǘƛǾŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊΩǎ ŦŜŜǎ Ƴǳǎǘ ōŜ ŀǇǇǊƻǾŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇany in a General 
Meeting. 
 
The Board has established an Employee Share Options Plan to encourage and reward enhanced performance by 
Senior Executives and other staff subject to the performance of the Group. The independent and Non-Executive 
Directors do not participate in the scheme and they are not paid any retirement benefits, other than superannuation. 
 
¢ƘŜ wŜƳǳƴŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ wŜǇƻǊǘ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜǇƻǊǘ ŘŜǘŀƛƭǎ ǘƘŜ ǊŜƳǳƴŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ ǇƻƭƛŎƛŜǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ Group. 
 
Group Web Site 
This Statement of Corporate Governance is available in the Investor Relations - Corporate Governance section of the 
Group web site www.crusaderresources.com together with further Corporate Governance information as appropriate. 
 
Governance and policy reviews 
The Corporate Governance policies and practices of the Group will be continually reviewed in accordance with the 
standards required of the Group by the Directors, the ASX, ASIC and other relevant stakeholders, to ensure that the 
highest appropriate governance standards are maintained. 

  

http://www.crusaderresources.com/
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013 

    
 

   Note Consolidated 
      
   Dec  June 
   2013  2013 
   $  $ 
Continuing operations      

Mineral Revenue  3 7,502,482  2,011,024 
Cost of Sales         (3,998,993)       (1,012,428) 
      

Gross Profit   3,503,489  998,596 

      
Other revenue  3 112,277  381,247  
      
Administration    (871,168)  (3,246,893) 
Corporate expenses   (515,006)  (1,917,262) 
Finance costs  3 (834,678)  (242,885) 
Depreciation and amortisation  3 (341,218)  (333,920) 
Exploration and evaluation   (1,665,827)  (2,477,858) 
Unrealised foreign exchange loss   (798,578)  (149,999) 
Other expenses    (173,264)  (629,596) 
      

Loss before income tax expense   (1,583,973)  (7,618,570) 

      
Income tax expense  5 (287,719)  (59,121) 
      

Loss for the period attributable to owners of the parent   (1,871,692)     (7,677,691) 

      
Other comprehensive income      
Items that may be reclassified subsequent to profit or loss      
      
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations   90,777  427,800 
Net fair value gain/(loss) on available-for-sale assets taken to equity   77,500  (149,000) 
Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income   -  - 
      

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of income tax   168,277  278,800 

      
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the period attributable 
to owners of the parent 

  
(1,703,415)  (7,398,891) 

      
      
Loss per share      
Basic (cents per share)  22 (1.48)  (6.19) 
Diluted (cents per share)  22 (1.48)  (6.19) 

 
The above Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income is to be read in conjunction 
with the Notes to the Financial Statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013 

 

   Note Consolidated 
   Dec  June 
   2013  2013 
   $  $ 
Current Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents      28(a) 2,109,806  2,695,699 
Trade and other receivables  10 865,452  1,547,420 
Inventories  11 878,812  258,112 
Other assets  12 288,339  389,908 
      

Total Current Assets   4,142,409  4,891,139 

      
Non-Current Assets      
Other financial assets  13 161,661  138,661 
Mineral resources  14 20,436,529  20,566,737 
Mine development properties  15 4,395,691    4,571,915 
Property, plant and equipment  16 1,846,628    2,042,810 
Other assets  12 70,106  - 
      

Total Non-Current Assets   26,910,615  27,320,123 

      

Total Assets   31,053,024  32,211,262 

      
Current Liabilities      
Trade and other payables  17 2,181,001  1,736,860 
Provisions  18 1,329,481  1,699,871 
Borrowings  4 4,108,256  75,716 
      

Total Current Liabilities   7,618,738  3,512,447 

      
Non-Current Liabilities      
Provisions  18 125,907  137,356 
Borrowings  4 43,836  3,643,400 
      

Total Non-Current Liabilities   169,743  3,780,756 

      

Total Liabilities   7,788,481  7,293,203 

      

Net Assets   23,264,543  24,918,059 

      
Equity      
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company      
Issued capital  19 55,268,797  55,268,797 
Reserves  20 8,642,974  8,424,798 
Retained earnings  21 (40,647,228)  (38,775,536) 
      

Total Equity   23,264,543  24,918,059 

 
The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial 
Statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013 

 
Consolidated            Attributable to equity holders of the parent 

 
   

 

 Issued 
capital 

 Retained 
earnings 

  
Reserves 

  
Total equity 

 $  $  $  $ 
        
At 1 July 2012 47,770,480  (31,097,845)  6,272,247  22,944,882 
        
Other comprehensive income for year -  -  278,800  278,800 
Loss for the period -  (7,677,691)  -  (7,677,691) 
        

Total comprehensive income for year -  (7,677,691)  278,800  (7,398,891) 

        
Shares issued for cash 7,920,000  -  -  7,920,000 
Shares issued upon exercise of options -  -  -   
Share issue costs (421,683)  -  -  (421,683) 
Share based payments -  -  1,873,751  1,873,751 
        

At 30 June 2013 55,268,797  (38,775,536)  8,424,798  24,918,059 

 
 
At 1 July 2013 55,268,797  (38,775,536)  8,424,798  24,918,059 
        
Other comprehensive income for period -  -  168,277  168,277 
Loss for the period -  (1,871,692)  -  (1,871,692) 
        

Total comprehensive income for period -  (1,871,692)  168,277  (1,703,415) 

        
Shares issued for cash -  -  -  - 
Shares issued upon exercise of options -  -  -  - 
Share issue costs -  -  -  - 
Share based payments -  -  49,899  49,899 
        

At 31 December 2013 55,268,797  (40,647,228)  8,642,974  23,264,543 

 
The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial 
Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013 

 
 

  Note  Consolidated 
    Dec  June 
    2013  2013 
    $  $ 
       
Cash flows from operating activities       
Receipts from customers    8,056,741  1,117,659 
Payments to suppliers and employees    (5,848,726)  (6,556,225) 
Finance Costs    (374,235)  (91,317) 
Income taxes paid    (226,322)  - 
       

Net cash provided by/ (used in) operating activities  28(b)  1,607,458  (5,529,883) 

       
Cash flows from investing activities       
Interest received    83,540  226,408 
Receipts for disposal of property, plant and equipment    55,110  - 
Payments for financial assets    -  (46,870) 
Payments for exploration and evaluation    (2,080,290)   (7,842,429) 
Payments for development    -  (1,357,656) 
Payments for property, plant and equipment  16  (185,190)  (562,313) 
       

Net cash used in investing activities    (2,126,830)  (9,582,860) 

       
Cash flows from financing activities       
Proceeds from issues of equity securities    -  7,919,999 
Costs of issuing securities  19  -  (421,680) 
Proceeds from borrowings    -  5,103,848 
Repayment of borrowings    (50,064)  (82,490) 
       

Net cash (used in)/ provided by financing activities    (50,064)  12,519,677 

       
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    (569,436)  (2,593,066) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial period    2,695,699  5,327,196  
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held in foreign currencies    (16,457)  (38,431) 
       

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial period  28(a)  2,109,806  2,695,699 

       
 

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial 
Statements. 
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION 

 
Crusader Resources Limited (άǘƘŜ tŀǊŜƴǘ 9ƴǘƛǘȅέ ƻǊ ά/ǊǳǎŀŘŜǊέ ƻǊ άǘhe Companyέ) is a listed public company 
incorporated in Australia and operating in Australia and BrazilΦ  ¢ƘŜ ŀŘŘǊŜǎǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǊŜƎƛǎǘŜǊŜŘ ƻŦŦƛŎŜ and 
principal place of business is Suite 1, Level 1, 35 Havelock Street, West Perth, Western Australia. The Consolidated 
Financial Statements of the Company as at, and for, the financial period ended 31 December 2013 comprise those of 
the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the άǘƘŜ /ƻƴǎƻƭƛŘŀǘŜŘ 9ƴǘƛǘȅέ ƻǊ άǘƘŜ Groupέ). The Group is 
involved primarily in the mineral exploration industry. 

 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
(a) Basis of preparation 

 
For the purpose of preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company is a άfor profitέ entity. The Financial 
Report is a General Purpose Financial Report which has been prepared in accordance with Accounting Standards 
(including Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).  Accounting Standards include Australian Accounting 
Standards.  Compliance with the Australian Accounting Standards ensures the Consolidated Financial Report of the 
Group complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (άIFRSsέ).  The Financial Report has also been 
prepared on an accrual basis and historical cost basis, except for available-for-sale investments which have been 
measured at fair value. Cost is based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts 
are presented in Australian dollars unless otherwise noted.  
 
The Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2014. 
 
Going concern 
The Financial Report has been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of normal 
business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business. 
 
The Group has incurred a loss for the period after tax of $1,871,692 (year ended 30 June 2013: loss of $7,677,691), 
and experienced net cash outflows from operating and investing activities of $519,372 (year ended 30 June 2013: net 
cash outflows of $15,112,743).  As at 31 December 2013, the Group has net current liabilities of $3,476,329 (30 June 
2013: net current assets of $1,378,692), which includes cash and cash equivalents of $2,109,806 (30 June 2013: 
$2,695,699).  
 
During the period to 31 December 2013 and the period to the date of this report, the directors have taken steps to 
ensure the Group and each Company continue as going concerns. These steps have included: 
 

(i) The CompanyΩǎ ŀǇǇƭƛŎŀǘƛƻƴ ŦƻǊ ŀ ΨPortaria de LavraΩ (full mining licence) which was approved and gazetted on 
30 January 2014. The conditions of the licence will initially restrict sales to 359,000 tonnes per annum until 
administrative steps are completed to allow for an increase of up to 1,500,000 tonnes per annum. 

(ii) Ongoing management of the level of exploration and development expenditure such that the expenditures 
are consistent with the funds available to the Group. 

 
The Group will continue to monitor and manage the level of exploration and development expenditure so that this is 
consistent with the DƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ cash forecasts and the funds available.  
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(a)  Basis of preparation (continued) 
 
The Directors are satisfied that, following the Gazettal of the ΨPortaria de LavraΩ (full mining licence), the current and 
forecast production levels at the Posse iron ore project are expected to generate sufficient cash flows to support the 
appropriateness of the going concern assumption.  Should production levels at the Posse iron ore project not maintain 
their anticipated levels, a part of future expenditures associated with the development of the GroupΩǎ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘǎ may be 
required to be deferred.  However, the DƛǊŜŎǘƻǊΩǎ ƴƻǘŜ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ ƳŀƧƻǊƛǘȅ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŜȄǇŜƴŘƛǘǳǊŜ related to the Borborema 
gold project is discretionary in nature and could be deferred beyond twelve months from the approval of the Financial 
Statements if required.  
 
The Directors have reviewed the GroǳǇ ŀƴŘ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƻǾŜǊŀƭƭ Ǉƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ ƻǳǘƭƻƻƪ ƛƴ ǊŜǎǇŜŎǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƳŀǘǘŜǊǎ 
identified above and are of the opinion that there are reasonable grounds to believe that the operational and financial 
plans in place are achievable and accordingly that the Group and Company will be able to continue as going concerns 
and meet their debts as and when they fall due. 
 
Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
Lƴ ǘƘŜ ŀǇǇƭƛŎŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŀŎŎƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ ǇƻƭƛŎƛŜǎΣ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ƛǎ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜŘ ǘƻ ƳŀƪŜ ƧǳŘƎŜƳŜƴǘǎΣ ŜǎǘƛƳŀǘŜǎ ŀƴŘ 
assumptions about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be 
relevant.  Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of that 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.  Refer to note 2(q) for a discussion 
oŦ ŎǊƛǘƛŎŀƭ ƧǳŘƎŜƳŜƴǘǎ ƛƴ ŀǇǇƭȅƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ŜƴǘƛǘȅΩǎ ŀŎŎƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ ǇƻƭƛŎƛŜǎ ŀƴŘ ƪŜȅ ǎƻǳǊŎŜǎ ƻŦ ŜǎǘƛƳŀǘƛƻƴ ǳƴŎŜǊǘŀƛƴǘȅΦ 

 
(b) Basis of consolidation 

 
The Consolidated Financial Statements incorporate the Financial Statements of the Company and the entities 
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries).  Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.  Control exists when 
the Group has power over the investee, is exposed to, or has right to, variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee, and has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. When the Group has less than a majority of the 
voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical 
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Financial Statements of subsidiaries are 
included in the Consolidated Financial Statements from the date that control commences until the date that control 
ceases. This policy has changed from prior years (refer note 2(p)), but has had no impact on reported numbers. 
 
In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, all inter-company balances and transactions, income and 
expenses, profit and losses resulting from intra-group transactions have been eliminated in full. 

 
(c) Foreign currency 

 
The individual Financial Statements of each Group entity are presented in the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency).  For the purpose of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, the results and financial position of each entity are expressed in Australian dollars, which is the functional 
currency of Crusader Resources Limited, and the presentation currency for the Consolidated Financial Statements.  
The functional currencies of Crusader do Brasil Mineração Ltda, Cascar Mineração Ltda and Crusader do Nordeste 
Mineração Ltda are Brazilian Real (BRLs). 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
(c) Foreign currency (continued) 
 
In preparing the Financial SǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƛƴŘƛǾƛŘǳŀƭ ŜƴǘƛǘƛŜǎΣ ǘǊŀƴǎŀŎǘƛƻƴǎ ƛƴ ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎƛŜǎ ƻǘƘŜǊ ǘƘŀƴ ǘƘŜ ŜƴǘƛǘȅΩǎ 
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the 
transactions.  At each reporting date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing at the reporting date.  Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined.  Non-monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.  
 
Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for: 

 

¶ exchange differences on monetary items receivable from, or payable to, a foreign operation, for which 
settlement is neither planned or likely to occur, which form part of the net investment in a foreign 
operation, and which are recognised in the Foreign Currency Translation Reserve and recognised in 
profit or loss on disposal of the net investment. 
 

hƴ ŎƻƴǎƻƭƛŘŀǘƛƻƴΣ ǘƘŜ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ŀƴŘ ƭƛŀōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŦƻǊŜƛƎƴ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎ ŀǊŜ ǘǊŀƴǎƭŀǘŜŘ ƛƴǘƻ !ǳǎǘǊŀƭƛŀƴ ŘƻƭƭŀǊǎ ŀǘ 
exchange rates prevailing on the reporting date.  Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange 
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during that period, in which case the exchange 
rates at the dates of the transactions are used.  Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income and accumulated in equity. 
 
(d) Financial instruments 

 
Non-derivative financial instruments 
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity and debt securities, trade and other receivables, 
cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other payables. 
 
Non-derivative financial instruments, other than those classified at initial recognition as at fair value through profit or 
loss, are initially recognised at fair value plus/minus any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial 
recognition non-derivative financial instruments are measured as described below: 
 
Loans and receivables 
Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
ŀŎǘƛǾŜ ƳŀǊƪŜǘ ŀǊŜ ŎƭŀǎǎƛŦƛŜŘ ŀǎ άƭƻŀƴǎ ŀƴŘ ǊŜŎŜƛǾŀōƭŜǎέΦ  [ƻŀƴǎ ŀƴŘ ǊŜŎŜƛǾŀōƭŜǎ ŀǊŜ ƳŜŀǎǳǊŜŘ ŀǘ Amortised Cost using 
the Effective Interest Method less impairment. 
 
Interest income is recognised by applying the Effective Interest Rate, except for short-term receivables where the 
recognition would be immaterial. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets 
¢ƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘǎ ƛƴ Ŝǉǳƛǘȅ ǎŜŎǳǊƛǘƛŜǎ ŀǊŜ ŎƭŀǎǎƛŦƛŜŘ ŀǎ άavailable-for-saleέ financial assets.  Subsequent to initial 
recognition, they are measured at fair value, and changes therein, other than impairment losses, are recognised 
directly in Other Comprehensive Income.  When an investment is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss in equity is 
transferred to profit or loss. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
(d) Financial instruments (continued) 

 
Effective interest method 
The Effective Interest Method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset, and of allocating 
interest income over the relevant period.  The Effective Interest Rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest 
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 
 
Income is recognised on an effective interest rate basis for debt instruments. 

 
Impairment of financial assets 
Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the 
end of each reporting period.  Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one 
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the 
investment have been impacted. 
 
CƻǊ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ŎŀǊǊƛŜŘ ŀǘ ŀƳƻǊǘƛǎŜŘ ŎƻǎǘΣ ǘƘŜ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƛƳǇŀƛǊƳŜƴǘ ƛǎ ǘƘŜ ŘƛŦŦŜǊŜƴŎŜ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ ǘƘŜ ŀǎǎŜǘΩǎ 
carrying amount and the present value of THE estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original Effective 
Interest Rate. 
 
The carrying amount of financial assets, including uncollectable trade receivables, is reduced by the impairment loss 
through the use of an allowance account.  Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 
against the allowance account.  Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or 
loss. 
 
With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases, and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent the carrying 
amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would 
have been had the impairment not been recognised. 
 
In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, any subsequent increase in fair value after an impairment loss is 
recognised in other comprehensive income. 
 
De-recognition of financial assets 
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it 
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.  If 
the Group neither transfers the financial asset nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and 
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset, and an associated 
liability for the amounts it may have to pay.  If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised 
borrowing for the proceeds received. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
(d) Financial instruments (continued) 

 
On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the 
sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in 
Other Comprehensive Income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss. On derecognition of a 
financial asset other than in its entirety (e.g. when the Group retains an option to repurchase part of a transferred 
asset or retains a residual interest that does not result in the retention of substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership and the Group retains control), the Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset 
between the part it continues to recognise under continuing involvement, and the part it no longer recognises, on 
the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer.  
 
The difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised, and the sum of the 
consideration received for the part no longer recognised, and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had been 
recognised in Other Comprehensive Income, is recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative gain or loss that had been 
recognised in Other Comprehensive Income is allocated between the part that continues to be recognised, and the 
part that is no longer recognised, on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts at each reporting date. 
 
Other financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. 
 
Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the Effective Interest Method with 
interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis. 
 
The Effective Interest Method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period.  The Effective Interest Rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the 
net carrying amount on initial recognition. 
 
De-recognition of financial liabilities 
The Group derecognises ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ƭƛŀōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ǿƘŜƴΣ ŀƴŘ ƻƴƭȅ ǿƘŜƴΣ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ƻōƭƛƎŀǘƛƻƴǎ ŀǊŜ ŘƛǎŎƘŀǊƎŜŘΣ ŎŀƴŎŜƭƭŜŘ ƻǊ 
they expire.  The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration 
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
(e) Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash comprises cash balances and at call deposits.  Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a 
maturity of three months or less at the date of acquisition. 
 
.ŀƴƪ ƻǾŜǊŘǊŀŦǘǎ ǘƘŀǘ ŀǊŜ ǊŜǇŀȅŀōƭŜ ƻƴ ŘŜƳŀƴŘ ŀƴŘ ŦƻǊƳ ŀƴ ƛƴǘŜƎǊŀƭ ǇŀǊǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŎŀǎƘ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ŀǊŜ 
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows. 
 
(f)  Share capital 

 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options 
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
(g) Property, plant and equipment 

 
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment.  Cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the item.  In the event that settlement of all or part of the 
purchase consideration is deferred, cost is determined by discounting the amounts payable in the future to their 
present value as at the date of acquisition. 

 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis so as to write off the net cost, or other revalued amount, of each 
asset over its estimated useful life to its estimated residual value.  The estimated useful lives, residual values and 
depreciation method, are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes 
recognised on a prospective basis. 
 
The estimated useful lives for plant and equipment range from 1 to 40 years, as below: 

 
Category Life (years) Depreciation Rate 

 Min Max Min Max 
Buildings 25 40   2.5%      4.0% 
Computers   2   4 25.0%    50.0% 
Furniture   5 10 10.0%    20.0% 
Plant   5 15   6.7%    20.0% 
Software   1   2 50.0%  100.0% 
Vehicles   2   5 20.0%    50.0% 

 

(h) Impairment of other tangible and intangible assets 

 
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether there are any indications that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.  If any such indications exist, 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss.  Where the 
asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the Cash-Generating Unit to which the asset belongs.  Where a reasonable and consistent basis of 
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual Cash-Generating Units. Otherwise they 
are allocated to the smallest group of Cash-Generating Units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis 
can be identified. 

 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, and intangible assets not yet available for use, are tested for impairment 
annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

(h) Impairment of other tangible and intangible assets (continued) 

 
The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future 
cash flows have not been adjusted.  If the recoverable amount of an asset (or Cash-Generating Unit) is estimated to be 
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (Cash-Generating Unit) is reduced to its recoverable 
amount.  An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair 
value, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.  Where an impairment loss subsequently 
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (Cash-Generating Unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its 
recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (Cash-Generating Unit) in 
prior years.  A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit and loss unless the relevant asset is 
carried at fair value, in which case the reversal of the impairment is treated as a revaluation increase. 
 
(i) Employee benefits 

 
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, and long 
service, leave when it is probable that settlement will be required, and they are capable of being measured reliably. 
 
Liabilities recognised in respect of short term employee benefits are measured at their nominal values using the 
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 
 
Liabilities in respect of long term employee benefits are measured as the present value of the estimated future cash 
outflows to be made by the Group in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. 
 
Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed when employees have rendered service 
entitling them to the contributions. 

 
(j) Share-based payment transactions 

 
Equity-settled share based payments with employees and others providing similar services, are measured at the fair 
value of the equity instrument at the grant date.  Fair value is measured by use of an appropriate options pricing 
ƳƻŘŜƭΦ  ¢ƘŜ ŜȄǇŜŎǘŜŘ ƭƛŦŜ ǳǎŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƳƻŘŜƭ Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ ŀŘƧǳǎǘŜŘΣ ōŀǎŜŘ ƻƴ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘΩǎ ōŜǎǘ ŜǎǘƛƳŀǘŜΣ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ŜŦŦŜŎǘǎ 
of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioural considerations.  Further details of how the fair value of 
equity settled share transactions has been determined can be found in note 7. 
 
The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line 
basis over the vesting period. 
  
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with other parties are measured at the fair value of the goods and 
services received, except where the fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the 
fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty 
renders the service. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(k) Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  Revenue is reduced for estimated 
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances. 
  
Sales revenue 
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all of 
the following conditions are satisfied:  
 

¶ the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;  

¶ the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with 

ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;  

¶ the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 

¶ it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and 

¶ the costs incurred, or to be incurred, in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.  

 
Rental Income 
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial 
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging the operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased 
asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 
 
Interest revenue 
Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and the effective rate applicable, 
which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset 
ǘƻ ǘƘŀǘ ŀǎǎŜǘΩǎ ƴŜǘ ŎŀǊǊȅƛƴƎ ŀƳƻǳƴǘΦ 

 
(l)     Income tax 

 
Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable 
profit, or tax loss, for the period.  It is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by reporting date.  Current tax for current and prior periods is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent 
that it is unpaid (or refundable). 
  
Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences that exist at the reporting date between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 
 
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except: 
 

¶ where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill, or of an asset, or 
liability, in a transaction that is not a business combination, and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting profit nor taxable loss; and 
 

¶ in respect of taxable temporary differences, associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 
and interests in joint ventures and the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be 
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(l)     Income tax (continued) 
 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences that exist at each reporting date, 
the carry forward amount of all unused tax credits and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry forward amount of any 
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses, can be utilised except: 
 

¶ where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the 
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination, and at the 
time of the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 
 

¶ in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 
and interests in joint ventures, in which case deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that 
it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future, and taxable profit 
will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

 
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date, and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all, or part of, the deferred tax assets to 
be utilised. 

 
Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profit will allow all, or part of, the deferred tax credit to be recovered.   
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date. 
 
Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised as items of income or expense in the Consolidated 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. 
 
Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in the Consolidated 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. 
 
 (m)   Goods and services tax 
 
Revenues, expenses, and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the 
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office (ATO), in which case the GST is recognised as 
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset, or as part of the expense item as applicable. 
 
Receivables and payables are recognised inclusive of GST.  The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.  Cash flows are 
included in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash flows arising 
from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO, are classified as operating 
cash flows.  
 
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the relevant 
taxation authority. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(n)    Exploration and evaluation expenditure (mineral resources) 
 
For each area of interest, where management have deemed that further exploration is warranted, and the potential 
development of the area is commercially feasible, expenditure incurred in the acquisition of rights to explore is 
capitalised, classified as tangible or intangible, and recognised as an exploration and evaluation asset.  
 
Exploration and evaluation assets are measured at cost for the acquisition of the rights to explore. Exploration and 
evaluation expenditure incurred by the Group subsequent to acquisition of the rights to explore is expensed as 
incurred, up to costs associated with the preparation of a feasibility study, whereby the group commences the 
capitalisation of costs associated with the area of interest. 
 
When an area of interest is abandoned or the Directors decide that it is no longer commercial, any accumulated costs 
in respect of that area are written off in the financial period in which the decision is made.  Each area of interest is also 
reviewed at the end of each accounting period, and accumulated costs written off to the extent that they will not be 
recoverable in the future.  
 
Once a development decision has been made, all exploration and evaluation expenditure in respect of the area of 
interest is transferred to a mine development property asset and tested for impairment at that stage. 
 
(o)    Mine development properties 
 
The Group will make a decision to proceed with mine development once the commercial viability has been confirmed.  
This will usually be supported by the completion of a full feasibility study.  Costs are accumulated for each identifiable 
area of interest under development or in production.  The accumulated costs are amortised over the life of the mine 
on the unit of production basis, once production has commenced.      
 
(p)    Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards 
 
The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been adopted in these Financial Statements. Their 
adoption has not had any significant impact on the amounts reported, but may affect the accounting for future 
transactions or arrangements. 

¶ AASB 10 'Consolidated Financial Statements' and AASB 2011-7 'Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the consolidation and Joint Arrangement standards' 

 

¶ AASB 11 'Joint Arrangements' and AASB 2011-71 'Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from the consolidation and Joint Arrangement standards' 

 

¶ AASB 12 'Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities' and AASB 2011-7 'Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the consolidation and Joint Arrangement standards' 
 

¶ AASB 13 'Fair Value Measurement' and AASB 2011-8 'Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 13' 
 

¶ AASB 119 'Employee Benefits' (2011) and AASB 2011-10 'Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 119 (2011)' 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

(p)    Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards (continued) 

 

¶ AASB 127 'Separate Financial Statements' (2011) and AASB 2011-7 'Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the consolidation and Joint Arrangement standards' 
 

¶ AASB 128 ' Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures' (2011) and AASB 2011-7 'Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from the consolidation and Joint Arrangement standards' 
 

¶ !!{. млпу ΨLƴǘŜǊǇǊŜǘŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ {ǘŀƴŘŀǊŘǎΩ όнлмоύ  
 

¶ AASB 2011-п Ψ!ƳŜƴŘƳŜƴǘǎ ǘƻ !ǳǎǘǊŀƭƛŀƴ !ŎŎƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ {ǘŀƴŘŀǊŘǎ ǘƻ wŜƳƻǾŜ LƴŘƛǾƛŘǳŀƭ YŜȅ 
aŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ tŜǊǎƻƴƴŜƭ 5ƛǎŎƭƻǎǳǊŜ wŜǉǳƛǊŜƳŜƴǘǎΩ 
 

¶ AASB 2012-2 'Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Disclosures - Offsetting Financial 
Assets and Financial Liabilities' 
 

¶ AASB 2012-5 'Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual Improvements 
2009-2011 Cycle' 
  

¶ AASB 2012-ф Ψ!ƳŜƴŘƳŜƴǘ ǘƻ !!{. млпу ŀǊƛǎƛƴƎ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ ²ƛǘƘŘǊŀǿŀƭ ƻŦ !ǳǎǘǊŀƭƛŀƴ LƴǘŜǊǇǊŜǘŀǘƛƻƴ 
млофΩ 
 

¶ AASB 2012-10 'Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Transition Guidance and Other 
Amendments'  
 

¶ AASB CF 2013-м Ψ!ƳŜƴŘƳŜƴǘǎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ !ǳǎǘǊŀƭƛŀƴ /ƻƴŎŜǇǘǳŀƭ CǊŀƳŜǿƻǊƪΩ  
 

¶ LƴǘŜǊǇǊŜǘŀǘƛƻƴ нл Ψ{ǘǊƛǇǇƛƴƎ /ƻǎǘǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ tǊƻŘǳŎǘƛƻƴ tƘŀǎŜ ƻŦ ŀ {ǳǊŦŀŎŜ aƛƴŜΩ ŀƴŘ ǊŜƭŀted AASB 
2011-мн Ψ!ƳŜƴŘƳŜƴǘǎ ǘƻ !ǳǎǘǊŀƭƛŀƴ !ŎŎƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ {ǘŀƴŘŀǊŘǎ ŀǊƛǎƛƴƎ ŦǊƻƳ LƴǘŜǊǇǊŜǘŀǘƛƻƴ нлΩ  
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

(p)    Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards (continued) 

At the date of authorisation of the Financial Report, a number of Standards and Interpretations were in issue but not 
yet effective. 
 
Initial application of the following Standards and Interpretations is not expected to have any material impact on the 
Financial Report of the Group: 

 

Standard/Interpretation Effective for annual 
reporting periods 

beginning on or after: 

Expected to be 
initially applied in 
the financial year 

ending: 

!!{. ф ΨCƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ LƴǎǘǊǳƳŜƴǘǎΩΣ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ǊŜƭŜǾŀƴǘ ŀƳŜƴŘƛƴƎ 
standards

1 

 

1 January 2015 31 December 2015 

AASB 2013-о Ψ!ƳŜƴŘƳŜƴǘǎ ǘƻ !!{. мор ς Recoverable 
Amount Disclosures for Non-CƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ !ǎǎŜǘǎΩ 

 

1 January 2014 31 December2014 

AASB 2013-п Ψ!ƳŜƴŘƳŜƴǘǎ ǘƻ !ǳǎǘǊŀƭƛŀƴ !ŎŎƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ 
Standards ς Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of 
IŜŘƎŜ !ŎŎƻǳƴǘƛƴƎΩ 

 

1 January 2014 31 December2014 

AASB 2013-р Ψ!ƳŜƴŘƳŜƴǘǎ ǘƻ !ǳǎǘǊŀƭƛŀƴ !ŎŎƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ 
Standards ς InvesǘƳŜƴǘ 9ƴǘƛǘƛŜǎΩ 

 

1 January 2014 31 December2014 

Interpretation нм Ψ[ŜǾƛŜǎΩ 

 

1 January 2014 31 December2014 

 
1: The AASB has issued the following versions of AASB 9 and the relevant amending standards: 

¶ !!{. ф ΨCƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ LƴǎǘǊǳƳŜƴǘǎΩ ό5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ нллфύΣ !!{. нллф-мм Ψ!ƳŜƴŘƳŜƴǘǎ ǘƻ !ǳǎǘǊŀƭƛŀƴ 
!ŎŎƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ {ǘŀƴŘŀǊŘǎ ŀǊƛǎƛƴƎ ŦǊƻƳ !!{. фΩΣ !!{. нлмн-с Ψ!ƳŜƴŘƳŜƴǘǎ ǘƻ !ǳǎǘǊŀƭƛŀƴ !ŎŎƻǳƴǘing 
Standards ς aŀƴŘŀǘƻǊȅ 9ŦŦŜŎǘƛǾŜ 5ŀǘŜ ƻŦ !!{. ф ŀƴŘ ¢Ǌŀƴǎƛǘƛƻƴ 5ƛǎŎƭƻǎǳǊŜǎΩ 

¶ !!{. ф ΨCƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ LƴǎǘǊǳƳŜƴǘǎΩ ό5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ нлмлύΣ !!{. нлмл-т Ψ!ƳŜƴŘƳŜƴǘǎ ǘƻ !ǳǎǘǊŀƭƛŀƴ !ŎŎƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ 
{ǘŀƴŘŀǊŘǎ ŀǊƛǎƛƴƎ ŦǊƻƳ !!{. ф ό5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ нлмлύΩΣ !!{. нлмн-с Ψ!ƳŜƴŘƳŜƴǘǎ ǘƻ Australian Accounting 
Standards ς aŀƴŘŀǘƻǊȅ 9ŦŦŜŎǘƛǾŜ 5ŀǘŜ ƻŦ !!{. ф ŀƴŘ ¢Ǌŀƴǎƛǘƛƻƴ 5ƛǎŎƭƻǎǳǊŜǎΩ 

  
(q)    Critical accounting judgements and key sources of uncertainty 
 
The following are the critical judgements that the Group has made in the process of appƭȅƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŀŎŎƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ 
policies and that have the most significant effects on the amounts recognised in the Financial Statements. These 
estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period of revision, and future 
periods if the revision effects both current and future periods. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
(q)    Critical accounting judgements and key sources of uncertainty (continued) 
 
Useful lives of property, plant and equipment 
The Group reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of each annual reporting 
period.  There have been no changes during the period in the DǊƻǳǇΩǎ estimation of useful lives for property, plant and 
equipment. 
 
Capitalised exploration expenditure 
The Group reviews the carrying value of all capitalised exploration expenditure assets for impairment at the end of 
each annual reporting period, and where the Group believes an asset has been impaired, the adjustment to fair value 
is recorded through profit or loss. The ultimate recoupment of these costs is dependent on the successful 
commercialisation of the project, or through sale to a third party, for at least the carrying value of the project. 
 
Share-based payment transactions 
The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with Directors, Senior Executives, other staff and 
consultants by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted.  The fair 
value is determined using an appropriate options pricing model, which takes account of factors including the option 
exercise price, the current value and volatility of the underlying share price, the risk free interest rate, expected 
dividends on the underlying share, and the expected life of the option.  

 
  Consolidated 

  Dec  June 
  2013  2013 

  $  $ 
3. Revenue and Expenses     

     
Revenue ς mineral products  7,502,482  2,011,024 
     
Revenue ς other income     

Rental income  31,365  53,637 
Administrative services income  -  8,578 
R&D rebate  -  80,000 
Interest revenue  80,912  239,032 

  112,277  381,247 

     
Expenses     

Finance costs:     
Interest   356,307  109,081 
Accretion of debt issuance costs  478,371  133,804 

  834,678  242,885 

     
Depreciation and amortisation  341,218  333,920 
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3. Revenue and Expenses (continued) 

 

  Consolidated 
  Dec  June 
  2013  2013 
  $  $ 
Employee expenses:      

Salaries and wages  1,892,017  3,481,236 
Defined contribution plan  370,016  631,225 
Other employee benefits  339,775  542,343 
Equity-settled share-based payments  49,899  303,445 
Annual Leave  136,589  382,634 

  2,788,296  5,340,883 

 
4. Borrowings secured at amortised cost 

 
  Consolidated 
Borrowings  Dec 

2013 
$ 

 June 
2013 

$ 
Current     

Finance Leases  61,718  75,716 
Loans  4,046,538  - 

  4,108,256  75,716 

     
Non-Current     

Finance Leases  43,836  79,902 
Loans  -  3,563,498 

  43,836  3,643,400 

     

Total Current and Non-current Borrowings  4,152,092  3,719,116 

 
Loans 
The Company executed a debt funding facility of $20,000,000 in May 2013, and as at 31 December 2013, $5,000,000 
had been drawn down (year ending 30 June 2013: $5,000,000). These borrowings are interest bearing at 11.36% per 
annum (year ending 30 June 2013: 11.36%), and are repayable in full at 31 December 2014. This facility is secured by a 
general security agreement over the assets of the Group, and a specific security agreement over the shares of the 
Australian subsidiaries. 

 
Under the agreement 1,000,000 facility fee options were issued upon execution of the agreement and 7,322,000 
funding options issued upon drawdown of $5,000,000. The fair value of the options issued have been recognised in 
the Share Option Reserve and offset against the loan. The amount will be amortised over the life of the loan. 
 
Obligations under finance leases 
The Group acquired no additional finance leases during this financial period (year ending June 2013: 3). The average 
lease term of the existing finance leases is 3 years (year ending June 2013: 3). The Group has options to purchase the 
equipment for nominal amounts at ǘƘŜ ŜƴŘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƭŜŀǎŜ ǘŜǊƳǎΦ ¢ƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ƻōƭƛƎŀǘƛƻƴǎ ǳƴŘŜǊ ŦƛƴŀƴŎŜ ƭŜŀǎŜǎ ŀǊŜ 
ǎŜŎǳǊŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ƭŜǎǎƻǊǎΩ ǘƛǘƭŜ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ƭŜŀǎŜŘ ŀǎǎŜǘǎΦ Interest rates underlying all obligations under finance leases are fixed 
at respective contract dates ranging from 10.85% to 18.51% p.a. (2013: 10.85% to 18.51% p.a.).  
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4. Borrowings secured at amortised cost (continued) 

 
  Minimum lease payments  Present value of 

minimum lease payments 
  31/12/13  30/06/13  31/12/13  30/06/13 
  $  $  $  $ 
         
Not later than one year  75,100  100,079  61,718  75,716 
Later than one year and not later than five years  50,084  86,209  43,836  79,902 
Later than five years  -  -  -  - 

  125,184  186,288  105,554  155,618 

         
Less future finance charges  (19,630)  (30,670)  -  - 
         

Present value of minimum lease payments  105,554  155,618  105,554  155,618 

 
Included in the Consolidated Financial Statements as:     
- current borrowings:  61,718  75,716 
- non-current borrowings:  43,836  79,902 

  105,554  155,618 

 

 
  Consolidated 
  Dec  June 

5. Income tax  2013  2013 
  $  $ 
Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie 
tax payable:  

 
 

 
 

Loss from ordinary activities before income tax expense   
(1,583,973) 

 
(7,618,570) 

     
Prima facie tax benefit on loss from ordinary activities at 30%   (475,192)  (2,285,571) 
     
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in 
calculating taxable income: 

 
 

 
 

Entertainment  577  1,061 
Fines  111  218 

  (474,504)  (2,284,292) 

     
Tax effect of current period tax losses for which no deferred tax 
asset has been recognised 

 
762,223 

 
2,343,413 

     

Income tax expense  287,719  59,121 
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5. Income tax (continued) 
 
  Consolidated 
  Dec  June 
  2013  2013 
  $  $ 
Unrecognised temporary differences      
Deferred tax assets (at relevant tax rates)     
Investments  99,210  106,110 
Depreciable assets  5,461  3,242 
Accrued expenses  62,357  69,203 
Capitalised expenses  148,558  - 
Entity establishment costs  41,428  49,713 
Borrowing costs  68,826  99,020 
Provision for expenses  27,462  18,207 
Capital raising costs  183,643  219,822 
Carry forward revenue tax losses  6,205,538  5,517,321 
Carry forward capital tax losses  11,714  11,714 
Carry forward foreign tax losses  14,690,075  13,067,447 

  21,544,272  19,161,799 

     
Deferred tax liabilities (at relevant tax rates)     
Prepaid expenses  2,114  - 
Accrued interest income  514  879 

  2,628  879 

     

Net deferred asset not recognised  21,541,644  19,160,920 

 
The current taxation legislation in Brazil enables income tax to be paid under one of the following ways: 
 

¶ payable at 3% of gross revenue; 

¶ payable at 34% of net profit. 
 
During the half year ended 31 December 2013, the Group elected to pay income tax, in relation to the Posse iron ore 
project, on 3% of gross revenue. 
 
No net deferred tax asset has been brought to account ƎƛǾŜƴ ǘƘŜ ǎǘŀƎŜ ƻŦ ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ǾŀǊƛƻǳǎ 
projects. 
 
6. Financial Risk Management 
 
Overview 
The Group has exposure to the following risks from their use of financial instruments: 

¶ Capital risk 

¶ Credit risk 

¶ Foreign exchange risk 

¶ Interest rate risk 

¶ Equity risk 
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6. Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
This note presents information about the DǊƻǳǇΩǎ exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital. 
 
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management 
framework.  The Senior Executives monitor and mitigate the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group 
through regular reviews of the risks. 
 
Categories of financial instruments 

 
  Consolidated 
  Dec  June 
  2013  2013 
  $  $ 

Financial assets     
Cash and cash equivalents  2,109,806  2,695,699 
Held to maturity investments  121,661  121,661 
Loans and receivables  935,558  1,547,420 
Available-for-sale financial assets  40,000  17,000 

  3,207,025  4,381,780 

     
Financial liabilities     
Trade and other payables  2,181,001  1,736,860 
Other financial liabilities  105,554  155,618 
Loan Payable  4,046,538  3,563,498 

  6,333,093  5,455,976 

 
Capital risk management 
The Group manages its capital as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through the 
optimisation of its capital employed. 
 
The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents, debt funding and equity attributable to 
equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and accumulated loss as disclosed in notes 19, 20 and 
21 ǊŜǎǇŜŎǘƛǾŜƭȅΦ  bƻƴŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇǎΩ ŜƴǘƛǘƛŜǎ ŀǊŜ ǎǳōƧŜŎǘ ǘƻ ŜȄǘŜǊƴŀƭƭȅ ƛƳǇƻǎŜŘ ŎŀǇƛǘŀƭ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜƳŜƴǘǎΦ 
 
Credit risk management 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the GroupΩǎ ǊŜŎŜƛǾŀōƭŜǎ ŦǊƻƳ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊǎ ŀƴŘ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ 
securities. 
 
Investments 
The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by only investing in liquid securities and only with counterparties that have 
an acceptable credit rating. 
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6. Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
Trade and other receivables 
The Group operates in the mining sector and is exposed to credit risk in relation to trade receivables arising from the 
sale of mineral products. 
 
Where appropriate, the group has established an allowance for impairment that represents incurred losses in respect 
of other receivables and payments. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that relates 
to individually significant exposures. The Group does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations. 
 
Presently, the Group undertakes exploration, evaluation and mining activities in Brazil.  At the reporting date there 
were no significant concentrations of credit risk. 
 
The below table shows the distribution of receivables from the GroupΩǎ ƳŀƧƻǊ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊǎ ŀǎ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ŜƴŘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǇŜǊƛƻŘΦ 

 
  Dec    June   
  2013    2013   
Customer  $  %  $  % 
         
Gerdau Acominas S.A.    327,465     40.7   1,077,237  77.7 
Empresa de Mineração Esperança S.A.    301,313     37.4                   -        - 
Arcelormittal Brasil S.A.                 -          -      267,028   19.2 
AVG Siderurgia Ltda    111,503    13.9                  -        - 
Other       64,455      8.0         43,448     3.1 

    804,736  100.0    1,387,713  100.0 

Exposure to credit risk 
The carrying amount of the GroupΩǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ǊŜǇǊŜǎŜƴǘǎ ǘƘŜ maximum credit exposure.  The GroupΩǎ ƳŀȄƛƳǳƳ 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was: 

 
  Carrying Amount 
  Dec  June 
  2013  2013 
  $  $ 
     
Cash and cash equivalents  2,109,806  2,695,699 
Held to maturity financial assets      121,661      121,661 
Trade and other receivables     865,452  1,547,420 
Available-for-sale financial assets      40,000       17,000 

 
Liquidity risk management 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  The GroupΩǎ 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its 
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking 
damage to the GroupΩǎ ǊŜǇǳǘŀǘƛƻƴΦ 
 
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash 
flows. 
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6. Financial Risk Management (continued) 

 
Typically, the Group ensures it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses for a period of 
ninety days.  This excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such 
as natural disasters. 
 
Market risk management 
¢ƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ŜȄǇƻǎŜ ƛǘ ǇǊƛƳŀǊƛƭȅ ǘƻ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ Ǌƛǎƪǎ such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity 
prices which will affect the GroupΩǎ ƛƴŎƻƳŜ and the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  The objective of 
market risk management is to mitigate and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while 
optimizing shareholder return. 
 
Equity risk management 
The Group is exposed to very minor equity price risks arising from equity investments. Equity investments are held for 
strategic rather than trading purposes. The Group does not actively trade these investments. 
 
Equity price sensitivity analysis 
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the end of the 
reporting period: 
 
If equity prices had been 10% higher/lower: 

¶ Investment revaluation reserves would increase/decrease by $3,400 (June 2013: increase/decrease by 
$1,700) as a result of the changes in fair value of available-for-sale shares. 

 
¢ƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ sensitivity to equity prices has not changed significantly from the prior year. 

 
Foreign currency risk management 
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk from investments and borrowings held in a currency other than the 
DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŦǳƴŎǘƛƻƴŀƭ ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎȅΦ  ¢ƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŜȄǇƻǎǳǊŜ ǘƻ ŦƻǊŜƛƎƴ ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎȅ Ǌƛǎƪ relates to financial instruments held in 
Brazilian Reals.  At the reporting date the holdings were as follows: 

 
  Consolidated 
  Dec  June 
  2013  2013 
  $  $ 
Financial assets     
Cash and cash equivalents  1,858,395     286,114 
Loans and receivables     874,842  1,459,956 

  2,733,237  1,746,070 

     
Financial liabilities     
Trade and other payables  1,847,582  1,446,246 
Provisions  1,329,048  1,710,752 
Borrowings       33,555     155,618 

  3,210,185  3,312,616 
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6. Financial Risk Management (continued) 

 
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis 
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to foreign exchange risks at the end of the 
reporting period: 
 
If the AUD/BRL exchange rate had been 10% higher/lower net profit for the period ended 31 December 2013 would 
have increased/decreased by $70,563 (year ended 30 June 2013: increased/decreased by $514,503). 
 
Interest rate risk management 
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk in relation to its leasing liabilities and cash and cash equivalents. 
 
Interest rate sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rate risks at the end of the 
reporting period: 
 
If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/(lower) net profit for the period ended 31 December 2013 would 
have decreased by $22,738/(increased by $24,970) (year ended 30 June 2013: decrease by $9,709/(increase by 
$9,709).  A change in interest rates would have no effect on equity.  
¢ƘŜ ŦƻƭƭƻǿƛƴƎ ǘŀōƭŜǎ ŘŜǘŀƛƭ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ǊŜƳŀƛƴƛƴƎ ŎƻƴǘǊŀŎǘǳŀƭ ƳŀǘǳǊƛǘȅ for its non-derivative financial instruments: 

Dec 2013             
Consolidated  Average 

Interest 
Rate 

 Variable 
Interest 

Rate 

 Fixed 
Interest 

Rate 

 Fixed 
Interest 

Rate 

 Non-
interest 
Bearing 

 Total 

      Maturity 
less than 
1 year 

 Maturity   
1-5 years 

    

  %  $  $  $  $  $ 
             
Financial Assets             
Cash and cash 
equivalents 

  
8.87% 

  
1,981,830 

  
70,000 

  
- 

   
    57,976 

  
2,109,806 

Trade and other 
receivables 

  
- 

  
- 

  
- 

  
- 

   
  935,558 

  
   935,558 

Deposits  3.70%  -  -       121,661  -    121,661 
Listed investments 
at market value 

  
- 

  
- 

  
- 

  
- 

   
    40,000 

  
     40,000 

    1,981,830  70,000       121,661  1,035,534  3,207,025 

             
Financial Liabilities             
Finance lease 
liabilities 

  
14.74% 

  
- 

  
(61,718) 

    
   (43,836) 

  
- 

  
   (105,554) 

Loan payable  11.36%  -  -  (5,000,000)  -  (5,000,000) 
Trade and other 
payables 

  
- 

  
- 

  
- 

  
- 

  
(2,181,001) 

  
(2,181,001) 

    -  (61,718)  (5,043,836)  (2,181,001)  (7,286,555) 

             
Net financial             

assets/(liabilities)    1,981,830   8,282  (4,922,175)  (1,145,467)  (4,079,530) 
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6. Financial Risk Management (continued) 

 
June 2013             
Consolidated  Average 

Interest 
Rate 

 Variable 
Interest 

Rate 

 Fixed 
Interest 

Rate 

 Fixed 
Interest 

Rate 

 Non-
interest 
Bearing 

 Total 

      Maturity 
less than 
1 year 

 Maturity   
1-5 years 

    

  %  $  $  $  $  $ 
             
Financial Assets             
Cash and cash 
equivalents 

  
3.51% 

  
2,695,699 

  
- 

  
- 

  
- 

  
2,695,699 

Trade and other 
receivables 

  
- 

  
- 

  
- 

  
- 

  
1,547,420 

  
1,547,420 

Deposits  3.65%  -  -     121,661  -     121,661 
Listed investments 
at market value 

  
- 

  
- 

  
- 

  
- 

   
    17,000 

  
     17,000 

    2,695,699  -     121,661  1,564,420  4,381,780 

             
Financial Liabilities             
Finance lease 
liabilities 

  
14.57% 

  
- 

  
(75,716) 

   
    (79,902) 

  
- 

   
  (155,618) 

Loan payable  11.36%  -  -  (5,000,000)  -  (5,000,000) 
Trade and other 
payables 

  
- 

  
- 

  
- 

  
- 

  
(1,736,860) 

  
(1,736,860) 

    -  (75,716)  (5,079,902)  (1,736,860)  (6,892,478) 

             
Net financial             

assets/(liabilities)    2,695,699  (75,716)  (4,958,241)     (172,440)  (2,510,698) 

 
Fair values at amortised costs 
The carrying value of the GroupΩs financial assets and liabilities are equal to their respective net fair values. 
 
Fair values of financial instruments ς valuation techniques and assumptions 
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid 
markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices. 
 
The fair value of other financial assets and liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) are determined in accordance 
with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current 
market transactions. 
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6. Financial Risk Management (continued) 

 
Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position 
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at 
fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable. 

 

¶ Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities. 

¶ Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within 
Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. 
derived from prices). 

¶ Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the 
asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 
 

 Dec 2013 
 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
 $  $  $  $ 
Available for sale  

 
   

 
 

Listed Investments 40,000 
 

-  - 
 

40,000 

 40,000 
 

-  - 
 

40,000 

  
 

   
 

 
 June 2013 
 Level 1 

 
Level 2  Level 3 

 
Total 

 $ 
 

$  $ 
 

$ 
Available for sale  

 
   

 
 

Listed Investments 17,000 
 

-  - 
 

17,000 

 17,000 
 

-  - 
 

17,000 

 
7. Share-based payments 

 
The expense recognised in the profit or loss in relation to share-based payments is disclosed in note 3. 
 
The following table illustrates the number and Weighted Average Exercise Prices (WAEPs) of, and movements in, 
share options issued during the period: 
 Dec 

2013 
No. 

 Dec 
2013 
WAEP 

 June 
2013 
No. 

 June 
2013 
WAEP 

        
Outstanding at the beginning of the period 13,457,000  0.52  4,460,000  0.89 
Granted during the period 2,990,000  0.43  9,997,000  0.37 
Forfeited during the period -  -   -  -  
Lapsed during the period (1,500,000)  1.30   (1,000,000)  (0.65) 
Reversal of lapsed options - 

 
-  - 

 
- 

Exercised during the period - 
 

-  - 
 

- 

Outstanding at the end of the period 14,947,000  0.43  13,457,000  0.52 

        
Exercisable at the end of the period 1,960,000  0.70  2,585,000  1.07 
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7. Share-based payments (continued) 

 
The following share options were in existence during or at the end of the current financial period: 

 
Options series Number Grant date Vesting date Expiry date Exercise 

price  
$ 

Grant date 
fair value  

$ 
Live at end of period       
Issued 25 Aug 2010    125,000  25 Aug 2010    1 Feb 2012     1 Aug 2015 0.44 0.3183 
Issued 25 Aug 2010    125,000  25 Aug 2010    1 Aug 2013     1 Aug 2015 0.44 0.3417 
Issued 25 Aug 2010    250,000  25 Aug 2010   22 Feb 2012   22 Aug 2015 0.56 0.3013 
Issued 25 Aug 2010    250,000  25 Aug 2010  22 Aug 2013   22 Aug 2015 0.56 0.3268 
Issued 29 Nov 2010    500,000  19 Nov 2010  22 Feb 2012   22 Aug 2015 0.70 0.5370 
Issued 29 Nov 2010    500,000  19 Nov 2010  22 Aug 2013   22 Aug 2015 0.70 0.5640 
Issued 30 Nov 2011    120,000  30 Nov 2011  30 Jun 2012   30 Jun 2014 1.35 0.5253 
Issued 30 Nov 2011      90,000  23 Nov 2011  30 Jun 2012   30 Jun 2016 1.35 0.6870 
Issued   8 May 2013 1,000,000   8 May 2013   8 May 2014   31 Dec 2015 0.48 0.1081 
Issued 10 May 2013 7,322,000  10 May 2013 10 May 2015  10 May 2017      0.3414 0.1997 
Issued 14 May 2013    558,333  14 May 2013 14 May 2014  13 May 2017 0.43 0.1493 
Issued 14 May 2013    558,333  14 May 2013 14 May 2015  13 May 2017 0.43 0.1645 
Issued 14 May 2013    558,334  14 May 2013 14 May 2016  13 May 2017 0.43 0.1776 
Issued    8 Aug 2013 (1)    138,888    30 Jul 2013   8 Aug 2014     7 Aug 2017 0.43 0.0100 
Issued    8 Aug 2013    857,779    30 Jul 2013   8 Aug 2014     7 Aug 2017 0.43 0.0464 
Issued    8 Aug 2013    996,667    30 Jul 2013   8 Aug 2015     7 Aug 2017 0.43 0.0585 
Issued    8 Aug 2013    996,666    30 Jul 2013   8 Aug 2016     7 Aug 2017 0.43 0.0720 

 14,947,000      

       
Lapsed during period       
Issued 21 Apr 2011 750,000 1 Apr 2011 31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2013 1.30 0.5700 
Issued 21 Apr 2011 750,000 1 Apr 2011 31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2013 1.30 0.6400 

 1,500,000      
 

(1) These options were issued on the same basis as those of the same tranche, aside from a specified market based condition 
to achieve a 75c ten day VWAP by 30 June 2014, resulting in a lower valuation per option. These options also have 
associated non-market based vesting conditions which have been agreed with each individual and are directly related to 
their roles. 

 
The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding at 31 December 2013 is 3.1 years 
(June 2013: 3.1 years). 
 
The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the period was $0.3414 ς $1.35 (June 2013: $0.3414 
ς $1.35). 
 
The weighted average fair value of options granted during the period was $0.05 (June 2013: $0.18). 
 
The fair value of the equity-settled share options granted under the option plan is estimated as at the date of grant 
using an appropriate options pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options 
were granted. 
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7. Share-based payments (continued) 
 
The following table lists the inputs to the model used in relation to the live options at the end of the current 
reporting period: 

 

  
Granted during six month 

period to 31/12/13 
Granted during year ended 30 June  2013 

Granted during 
year ended 30 

June  2012 

Granted during year ended 30 
June  2011 

  

 

$0.43 
Options 

$0.43 
Options 

$0.43 
Options 

$0.3414 
Options 

$0.48 
Options 

$0.43 
Options 

$0.43 
Options 

$0.43 
Options 

$1.35 
Options 

$1.35 
Options  

$0.44 
Options 

$0.56 
Options 

$0.70 
Options 

Dividend 
yield 

% - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

Expected 
volatility 

 
% 90 90 90 103 80 103 103 103 80 80 104 104 104 

Risk-free 
interest 
rate 

 
% 2.73 2.73 2.73 2.73 2.48 2.66 2.66 2.66 3.76 3.76 4.57 4.57 5.41 

Expected 
life 

Years 2.5 3 3.5 4 2.65 2.5 3 3.5 3 5 5 5 5 

Exercise 
price 

$ 0.43 0.43 0.43 0.3414 0.48 0.43 0.43 0.43 1.35 1.35 0.44 0.56 0.7 

Share 
price at 
grant 
date 

$ 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.29 0.29 0.29 0.29 0.29 1.18 1.18 0.48 0.48 0.79 

 
The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that 
will occur.  The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, 
which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.  No other features of options granted were incorporated into 
the measurements of fair value. 
 
No share options were exercised during the period. 
 

Employee share option plan 

At a meeting of shareholders held on 10 June 2008, the Company received approval for the introduction of an 
employee share option scheme (the Plan).  The plan was re-approved at a meeting of shareholders on 1 April 2011, 
the details of which are set out below.  In the event of any inconsistency between the terms of the Plan and the 
summary set out below, the terms of the Plan will prevail. 

1. The options can only be issued to Employees or Officers of the Company and its subsidiaries. 

2. Each Option entitles the holder, on exercise, to one fully paid ordinary share in the Company. 

3. Shares issued on exercise of Options will rank equally with other fully paid ordinary shares of the Company. 

4. The exercise price and expiry date for the options will be as determined by the Board (in its discretion) on or 
before the date of issue. 
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7. Share-based payments ( continued) 

 
Employee share option plan (continued) 

 
5. The maximum number of options that can be issued under the Plan is not to be in excess of 5% of the total 

number of Shares on issue. 

6. An option may only be exercised after that option has vested, after any conditions associated with the 
exercise of the option are satisfied and before its expiry date.  The Board may determine the vesting period (if 
any).  On the grant of an option the Board may, in its absolute discretion, impose other conditions on the 
exercise of an option. 

7. An Option will lapse upon the first to occur of its expiry date; the holder acting fraudulently or dishonestly in 
relation to the Company or on certain conditions associated with a party acquiring a 90% interest in the 
Shares of the Company. 

8. Upon an Optionholder ceasing to be a Director, employee or officer of the Company, whether by termination 
or otherwise, the Optionholder has 45 days from the day of termination, or otherwise, to exercise their 
Options before their Options lapse. 

9. If the Company enǘŜǊǎ ƛƴǘƻ ŀ ǎŎƘŜƳŜ ƻŦ ŀǊǊŀƴƎŜƳŜƴǘΣ ŀ ǘŀƪŜƻǾŜǊ ōƛŘ ƛǎ ƳŀŘŜ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ {ƘŀǊŜǎΣ ƻǊ ŀ 
party acquires a sufficient interest in the Company to enable them to replace the Board (or the Board forms 
the view that one of those events is likely to occur), then the Board may declare an option to be free of any 
conditions of exercise.  Options which are so declared may be exercised at any time on or before they lapse. 

10. Options may not be transferred other than in cases where the Options have vested, are within six (6) months 
of the expiry date of the Options, and the Options are transferred to an Associate of the Optionholder.  
Quotation of options on the ASX will not be sought.  However, the Company will apply to the ASX for official 
quotation of Shares issued on the exercise of options. 

11. There are no participating rights or entitlements inherent in the options and holders will not be entitled to 
participate in new issues of capital offered to Shareholders during the currency of the options. However, the 
Company will ensure that the record date for determining entitlements to any such issue will be at least 6 
ASX Business Days after the issue is announced. 

12. If the Company makes an issue of Shares to Shareholders by way of capitalisation of profits or reserves 
όά.ƻƴǳǎ LǎǎǳŜέύΣ ŜŀŎƘ hǇǘƛƻƴƘƻƭŘŜǊ ƘƻƭŘƛƴƎ ŀƴȅ hǇǘƛƻƴǎ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƘŀǾŜ ƴƻǘ ŜȄǇƛǊŜŘ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ǘƛƳŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǊŜŎƻǊŘ 
date for determining entitlements to the Bonus Issue shall be entitled to have issued to him upon exercise of 
anȅ ƻŦ ǘƘƻǎŜ hǇǘƛƻƴǎ ǘƘŜ ƴǳƳōŜǊ ƻŦ {ƘŀǊŜǎ ǿƘƛŎƘ ǿƻǳƭŘ ƘŀǾŜ ōŜŜƴ ƛǎǎǳŜŘ ǳƴŘŜǊ ǘƘŜ .ƻƴǳǎ LǎǎǳŜ όά.ƻƴǳǎ 
{ƘŀǊŜǎέύ ǘƻ ŀ ǇŜǊǎƻƴ ǊŜƎƛǎǘŜǊŜŘ ŀǎ ƘƻƭŘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǎŀƳŜ ƴǳƳōŜǊ ƻŦ {ƘŀǊŜǎ ŀǎ ǘƘŀǘ ƴǳƳōŜǊ ƻŦ {ƘŀǊŜǎ ǘƻ ǿƘƛŎƘ ǘƘŜ 
Optionholder may subscribe pursuant to the exercise of those Options immediately before the record date 
determining entitlements under the Bonus Issue (in addition to the shares which he or she is otherwise 
entitled to have issued to him or her upon such exercise). 

13. In the event of any reconstruction (including a consolidation, subdivision, reduction or return) of the issued 
capital of the Company prior to the expiry of any options, the number of options to which each option holder 
is entitled, or the exercise price of his or her options, or both, or any other terms will be reconstructed in a 
manner determined by the Board which complies with the provisions of the ASX Listing Rules. 
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8. Key management personnel 
 
Details of Key Management Personnel: 
Mr. S. Copulos  Chairman (Non-Executive) 
Mr. R. Smakman Managing Director 
Mr. P. Stephen  Executive Director 
Mr. J. Evans  Director (Non-Executive) 
Mr. M. Ferreira  Director (Non-Executive) 
Mr. D. Netherway Director (Non-Executive)  
Mr. A. Beigel  Chief Financial Officer / Company Secretary 
Mr. M. Schmulian Chief Operating Officer  
Mr. A. Platel  Exploration Manager - ceased providing services 4th March 2014 
Mr. W. Foote  Project Manager - appointed 1 August 2013 
 
The aggregate compensation provided to Directors and Key Management Personnel of the company and the group is 
set out below: 

 
  Consolidated 
  Dec  June 
  2013  2013 
  $  $ 

Short-term employee benefits  1,029,370  2,180,823 
Post-employment benefits  25,493  24,266 
Share-based payments  141,011  290,943 

  1,195,874  2,496,032 

 
Further details relating to the compensation of Directors and Key Management Personnel are included within the 
5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜǇƻǊǘΦ 

 
фΦ !ǳŘƛǘƻǊǎΩ wŜƳǳƴŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ     
     
Audit of the Parent Entity     
Audit or review of financial report  49,885  72,925 
     
Auditors of overseas entities     
Audit or review of financial report  41,734  35,226 

  91,619  108,151 

 
The auditor of the Group is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. 

 
10. Trade and other receivables     
     
Current     
Trade receivables  804,736  1,387,713 
Other receivables  130,822  159,707 

  935,558  1,547,420 
     
Other receivables are non-interest bearing and consist of rent receivable due within 30 days, GST credits receivable 
from the Australian Taxation Office, and accrued interest receivable. There are no provisions included within Trade 
and other receivables. 
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10. Trade and other receivables (continued) 

 
All receivables are collected within commercial terms, and none were past due as at the end of the period. 

 
An analysis of trade receivables by customer is disclosed in note 6. 

 
 

  Consolidated 
  Dec  June 
  2013  2013 
11. Inventories  $  $ 
     
Work In Progress    56,058    25,960 
Finished Goods  822,754  232,152 

  878,812  258,112 

     
The cost of inventories recognized as an expense during the period in respect of continuing operations was 
$2,581,715 (2013: $959,726). 

 
12. Other assets     
     
Current     
Pre-payments and supplier deposits  105,954  115,927 
Bank guarantees    30,000    30,000 
Current tax receivable  136,370  225,549 
Other    16,015    18,432 

  288,339  389,908 

     
Non-Current     
Tenement sale proceeds    70,106             - 

    70,106             - 

13. Other financial assets     
     
Non-current     
Deposits  121,661  121,661 
Available-for-sale assets at fair value (1)    40,000    17,000 

  161,661  138,661 
 

(1) Fair value is based on the closing price on the Australian Securities Exchange at the reporting date. 
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The Group has exploration and evaluation assets relating to three mining leases covering a total area of 29km

2 

including freehold title over the main prospect area, held in the Serido area of the Borborema province in north-
eastern Brazil. Recoverability of the carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on the 
successful development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively the sale, of the respective areas of interest.   
 
During the period the Group has expensed costs of $423,996 (June 2013: $816,043) relating to the tenements held in 
ǘƘŜ {ŜǊƛŘƻ ǊŜƎƛƻƴΦ Lƴ ŀŎŎƻǊŘŀƴŎŜ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŀŎŎƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ ǇƻƭƛŎȅ ŜȄǇƭƻǊŀǘƛƻƴ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ǿƛǘƘƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǘŜƴŜƳŜƴǘǎ ƛƴ 
question are in the pre-feasibility stage, as such costs are expensed as incurred. The group has also expensed as 
incurred, indirect exploration related costs of $1,241,831 incurred within Brazil during the period (June 2013: 
$1,661,815), on the basis that they are not directly attributable to the Borborema area of interest.  

 

 
  

  Consolidated 
  Dec  June 
  2013  2013 
14. Mineral resources  $  $ 
     
Costs brought forward  20,566,737  14,716,233 
Expenditure incurred during the period    2,086,896    8,099,985 
Expenditure expensed    (1,665,227)    (2,477,858) 
Effect of exchange rates      (551,877)      228,377 

Costs carried forward  20,436,529  20,566,737 

15. Mine development properties     
     
Cost brought forward  4,571,915    3,258,023 
Additions        76,803    1,301,184 
Depreciation and amortisation    (116,565)        (43,229) 
Effect of foreign exchange     (136,462)        55,937 

Carrying amount at the end of the period  4,395,691  4,571,915 

16. Property, plant and equipment     
     
Balance at the beginning of the period     
Cost  2,549,443  1,860,506 
Accumulated depreciation     (506,633)     (222,901) 

Carrying amount at beginning of period  2,042,810  1,637,605 

     
Additions    280,899    652,140 
Disposals    (199,093)      (14,978) 
Depreciation    (224,653)    (290,691) 
Increase/(decrease) in carrying amount due to currency changes       (53,335)       58,734 

Carrying amount at the end of the period  1,846,628  2,042,810 
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16. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 
The following table shows the movements in property, plant and equipment for the period by the main classes 
utilised. 
 
 Opening net 

book value at 
30/06/13 

$ 

  
Additions 

 
$ 

  
Disposals 

 
$ 

  
Depreciation 

 
$ 

 Closing net 
book value at 

31/12/13 
$ 

          
Buildings    153,957  114,869    (41,891)    (82,203)     144,732 
Computers    161,908    23,224      (2,177)    (29,571)     153,384 
Furniture    125,592    15,795                -      (2,832)     138,555 
Plant 1,144,671    90,565  (154,588)     (44,621)  1,036,027 
Software    124,053    35,375                -      (14,661)     144,767 
Vehicles    332,629      1,071          (437)      (50,765)     282,498 

 2,042,810  280,899  (199,093)   (224,653)  1,899,963 

          

Foreign exchange              (53,335) 

          

         1,846,628 

 

 
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 day terms. 

 
18. Provisions     
     
Current     
Annual leave and other benefits  231,091  674,145 
Payroll and associated taxes  994,959  1,010,726 
Other  103,431  15,000 

  1,329,481  1,699,871 

Non-current     
Rehabilitation  47,114  48,550 
Social contribution taxes  -  37,683 
Other  78,793  51,123 

  125,907  137,356 

     

Total Current and Non-Current Provisions  1,455,388  1,837,227 

 
  

  Consolidated 
  Dec  June 
  2013  2013 
  $  $ 
17. Trade and other payables     
     
Current     
Trade payables and accruals  2,181,001  1,736,860 
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19. Issued capital No.  $ 
    
Ordinary shares issued and fully paid    
    
 At 30 June 2013 126,646,041  55,268,797 

    
 At 31 December 2013 126,646,041  55,268,797 

 
Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and the right to receive dividends. 
 
Changes to the then Corporations Law abolished the authorised capital and par value concept in relation to share 
capital from 1 July 1998.  Therefore the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital and issued 
shares do not have a par value. 
 

 
Fully paid ordinary share capital         
  No.  $  No.  $ 
         
Balance at the start of the 
financial period 

  
126,646,041 

  
55,268,797 

  
110,146,040 

  
47,770,480 

Shares issued for cash                     -                   -    16,500,001    7,920,000 
Shares issued on exercise of 
options 

  
                  - 

  
                -  

  
                   - 

  
                 - 

Capital raising costs                    -                 -                    -       (421,683) 

Balance at the end of the 
financial period 

  
126,646,041 

  
55,268,797 

  
126,646,041 

  
55,268,797 

 
 

Share options on issue  
  Dec  June 
  2013  2013 
  No.  No. 

     
Balance at the start of the financial period  13,457,000  4,460,000 
Options issued as part of Director and Senior Executive  remuneration  2,990,000  - 
Options issued as part of other staff remuneration  -  1,675,000 
Options issued for funding facility  -  8,322,000 
Options lapsed  (1,500,000)  (1,000,000) 
Options exercised by Directors and Senior Executives  -  - 
Options exercised by other staff  -  - 

Balance at the end of the financial period  14,947,000  13,457,000 
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19. Issued capital (continued) 
 
Outstanding options at 31 December 2013 are as follows: 

 
Options series Number Grant date Expiry date Exercise price 

$ 
Issued 25 Aug 2010    250,000 25 Aug 2010   1 Aug 2015 0.44 
Issued 25 Aug 2010    500,000 25 Aug 2010 22 Aug 2015 0.56 
Issued 29 Nov 2010   1,00,000 19 Nov 2010 22 Aug 2015 0.70 
Issued 30 Nov 2011    120,000 23 Nov 2011 30 Jun 2014 1.35 
Issued 30 Nov 2011      90,000 23 Nov 2011 30 Jun 2016 1.35 
Issued   8 May 2013 1,000,000   8 May 2013 31 Dec 2015 0.48 
Issued 10 May 2013 7,322,000 10 May 2013 10 May 2017      0.3414 
Issued 14 May 2013 1,675,666 14 May 2013 13 May 2017 0.43 
Issued   8  Aug 2013 2,990,000   8 Aug 2013   7 Aug 2017 0.43 

 
20. Reserves  

 
Nature and purpose of reserves 
 
The Share Based Payment Reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options issued. 
 
The Foreign Currency Translation Reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
financial statements of foreign subsidiaries. 
 
The Investment Revaluation Reserve is used to record movements in the fair value of available-for-sale financial 
assets. 

 
  Consolidated 
  Dec  June 
  2013  2013 
  $  $ 

Reserves     
     
Share based payment reserve  5,644,817  5,594,918 
Foreign currency translation reserve  3,128,157  3,037,380 
Investment revaluation reserve  (130,000)  (207,500) 

  8,642,974  8,424,798 

 
Foreign currency translation reserve     
Balance at the beginning of the financial period  3,037,380  2,609,580 
Currency translation differences arising during the period  90,777  427,800 

Balance at the end of the financial period  3,128,157  3,037,380 

   
Share based payments reserve     
Balance at the beginning of the financial period  5,594,918  3,721,166 
Option expense  49,899  1,873,752 

Balance at the end of the financial period  5,644,817  5,594,918 
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20. Reserves (continued)  Consolidated 
  Dec  June 
  2013  2013 
  $  $ 
Investments  revaluation reserve     
Balance at the beginning of the financial period  (207,500)  (58,500) 
Unrealised gain/(loss) on available for sale investment  23,500  (149,000) 
Cumulative gain/(loss) reclassified to profit or loss on  
impairment  of available-for-sale financial assets 

 
54,000 

 
- 

Balance at the end of the financial period  (130,000)  (207,500) 

 
 

21. Retained earnings     
     
Movements in accumulated losses were as follows:     
Balance at the beginning of the financial period  (38,775,536)  (31,097,845) 
Net loss for the period  (1,871,692)  (7,677,691) 

Balance at the end of the financial period  (40,647,228)  (38,775,536) 

 
22. Loss per share 
 

Basic and diluted loss per share amounts are calculated by dividing net 
loss for the period attributable to equity holders of the parent, by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
period. 
 
The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and 
diluted loss per share computations: 

   

 $  $ 
    
Net loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent    (1,871,692)      (7,677,691) 
    
 No.  No. 

The weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue during the 
financial period used in the calculation of basic and diluted loss per share 

 
126,646,041 

  
124,065,753 

 
 

There are no shares to be issued under the exercise of 14,947,000 options currently outstanding which are considered 
to be dilutive.  The diluted earnings per share is therefore the same as basic earnings per share. 

 
23. Commitments 
 
In order to maintain current rights of tenure to the exploration tenements, the Group is required to meet the 
minimum expenditure commitments as specified by the relevant Government authorities.  These obligations are 
subject to renegotiations when application for a mining lease is made and at other times.  The obligations will be met 
from normal working capital of the Group.  The minimum exploration tenement commitments will be reduced should 
the Group enter into a joint venture on the tenements or extinguished should the tenement be abandoned should the 
Group decide that the project is not commercial. 
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23. Commitments (continued) 
 
The Group has certain minimum obligations in pursuance of the terms and conditions of mineral tenement licences in 
the forthcoming year.  Whilst these obligations are capable of being varied from time to time, in order to maintain 
current rights of tenure to all mining tenements, and assuming all applications are granted, the Group will be required 
to outlay in 2014 approximately $1,000,444.  These costs are expected to be fulfilled in the normal course of 
operations. 
 
24. Operating lease arrangements 
 
The Group as a lessee 
The Group has entered into two lease agreements for office rental , one for the corporate head office in Australia, and 
one for the administrative office in Brazil.  
 
In addition, there are a total of six (June 2013: five) lease agreements for accommodation of employees in Brazil. The 
company has also entered into a contract for mining services to be provided at the Posse Iron Ore Project in Brazil. 
 
The Group has no other operating lease commitments. 
 

  Consolidated 
  Dec  June 
  2013  2013 
  $  $ 

Operating lease commitments:     
Not later than 1 year  295,070      773,445 
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years  677,067      733,714 
Later than 5 years              -                 - 

  972,137  1,507,159 

 
The Group as a Lessor 
tŀǊǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ tŜǊǘƘ ƻŦŦƛŎŜ Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ ǎǳōƭŜǘ ǘƻ other Companies on a month to month basis.   
 
The Group  has no other operating lease receivables. 

 
Operating lease receivables:  $  $ 
     
Not later than 1 year  2,000  21,365 
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years  -  - 
Later than 5 years  -  - 

  2,000  21,365 

 
25.  Related party transactions 
 
(a)  Equity interests in related parties 
 
Details of the percentage of ordinary shares held in each of the subsidiaries are disclosed in note 26.. 
 
(b)  Transactions with Directors and Key Management Personnel 
 
Details of Director and Key Management Personnel compensation are disclosed in note 8. 
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26.  Controlled entities 

 
 Country of 

Incorporation 
Principal Activity Ownership Interest 

   Dec June 
   2013 2013 
Parent entity     
Crusader Resources Ltd Australia Mining Investment   
     
 
Controlled entities 

    

Brazil Minerals Pty Ltd Australia Mining Investment 100% 100% 
Atomico Pty Ltd Australia Mineral exploration 100% 100% 
Cascar Resources Pty Ltd Australia Mineral exploration 100% 100% 
Crusader do Brasil Mineração Ltda Brazil Mining and Mineral exploration 100% 100% 
Cascar do Brasil Mineração Ltda Brazil Mineral exploration 100% 100% 
Crusader do Nordeste Mineração Ltda Brazil Mineral exploration 100% 100% 

 
27. Segment reporting 
 
¢ƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ǊŜǇƻǊǘŀōƭŜ ǎŜƎƳŜƴǘǎ ǳƴŘŜǊ !!{. у ŀǊŜ ŀǎ ŦƻƭƭƻǿǎΥ 
 

¶ Mining and Mineral Exploration ς Iron ore 

¶ Mineral Exploration ς Gold 

¶ Mineral Exploration ς Other 
 
Mineral Exploration - hǘƘŜǊ ƛǎ ǘƘŜ ŀƎƎǊŜƎŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ƻǘƘŜǊ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƴƎ ǎŜƎƳŜƴǘǎ ǘƘŀǘ ŀǊŜ ƴƻǘ ǎŜǇŀǊŀǘŜƭȅ 
reportable.  Included within this, ŀǊŜ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƴƎ ǎŜƎƳŜƴǘǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŜȄǇƭƻǊŀǘƛƻƴ ŦƻǊ ƻǘƘŜǊ ƳƛƴŜǊŀƭ 
resources, and expenditure which cannot be allocated to any one mineral resource. 
 
The following table presents the revenue and results analyzed by mineral resource for the six months ended 31 
December 2013 and the year ended 30 June 2013Φ  ¢Ƙƛǎ ƛǎ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ primary basis of segmentation. 

 
Dec-2013  Iron Ore Gold Other Total 
  $ $ $ $ 
      
Revenue  7,502,482 - -  7,502,482 
Cost of sales  (3,998,993) - -  (3,998,993) 

Gross Profit  3,503,489 - -  3,503,489 

      
Other revenue  - -    112,275    112,275 
Exploration and evaluation    (307,483) (1,266,902)     (91,442) (1,665,827) 
Depreciation and amortisation    (276,392)      (35,557)     (29,269)    (341,218) 
Finance costs      (10,245)        (9,002)    (815,431)    (834,678) 
Unrealised foreign exchange loss  - -    (798,578)    (798,578) 
Central administration costs     (391,298)    (121,262) (1,046,876)  (1,559,436) 

Segment Result  2,518,071 (1,432,723) (2,669,321)  (1,583,973) 
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27. Segment reporting (continued) 

 
Jun-2013  Iron Ore Gold Other Total 
  $ $ $ $ 
      
Revenue  2,011,024 - - 2,011,024 
Cost of sales  (1,012,428) - - (1,012,428) 

Gross Profit  998,596 - - 998,596 

      
Other revenue  - - 381,247 381,247 
Exploration and evaluation  (865,948) (1,602,009) (9,900) (2,477,857) 
Depreciation and amortisation  (156,980) (6,234) (170,706) (333,920) 
Finance costs  (1,324) (2,348) (239,183) (242,855) 
Unrealised foreign exchange loss  - - (149,999) (149,999) 
Central administration costs  - - (5,793,782) (5,793,782) 

Segment Result  (25,656) (1,610,591) (5,982,323) (7,618,570) 
 

Segment loss represents the mining, mineral exploration and evaluation activities undertaken by each segment 
without allocation of central administration costs, interest income, rental income and unrealised foreign exchange 
gains and losses. 
 
Dec-2013  Iron Ore  Gold  Unallocated  Total 
  $  $  $  $ 
         
Current assets  3,543,284  123,487  475,639  4,142,410 
Non-current assets  7,251,276  19,265,873  393,465  26,910,614 

Total Assets  10,794,560  19,389,360  869,104  31,053,024 

         
Current liabilities  2,647,349  507,225  4,464,164  7,618,738 
Non-current liabilities  100,932  26,588  42,223  169,743 

Total Liabilities  2,748,281  533,813  4,506,387  7,788,481 

         

Net Assets / (Net Liabilities)  8,046,279  18,855,547  (3,637,283)  23,264,543 

 
Jun-2013  Iron Ore  Gold  Unallocated  Total 
  $  $  $  $ 
         
Current assets  2,071,597  176,000  2,643,542  4,891,139 
Non-current assets  7,585,113  19,356,330  378,680  27,320,123 

Total Assets  9,656,710  19,532,330  3,022,222  32,211,262 

         
Current liabilities  2,441,103  705,378  365,966  3,512,447 
Non-current liabilities  115,440  50,695  3,614,621  3,780,756 

Total Liabilities  2,556,543  756,073  3,980,587  7,293,203 

         

Net Assets / (Net Liabilities)  7,100,167  18,776,257  (958,365)  24,918,059 
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27. Segment reporting (continued) 
 
Geographical Information 
 
The Group operates in two geographical areas being Australia (country of domicile) and Brazil. 
 
All Australian expenditure relates to corporate and administrative activities and is included within the Other segments 
above. 
 
The table below shows the carrying balances of non-current assets per segment as at 31 December 2013. 
 
Dec-2013  Iron ore  Gold  Unallocated  Total 
  $  $  $  $ 
         
Other financial assets  -  -  161,661  161,661 
Mineral resources  1,527,671  18,908,859  -  20,436,530 
Mine development properties  4,395,691  -  -  4,395,691 
Property, plant and equipment  1,257,808  357,015  231,804  1,846,627 
Other assets  70,106  -  -  70,106 

Total non-current assets  7,251,276  19,265,874  393,465  26,910,615 

 
The table below shows the carrying balances of non-current assets per segment as at 30 June 2013. 

 
June-2013  Iron ore  Gold  Unallocated  Total 
  $  $  $  $ 
         
Other financial assets  -  -  138,661  138,661 
Mineral resources  1,574,217  18,993,241  -  20,567,458 
Mine development properties  4,571,915  -  -  4,571,915 
Property, plant and equipment  1,438,981  363,089  240,019  2,042,089 
Other assets  -  -  -  - 

Total non-current assets  7,585,113  19,356,330  378,680  27,320,123 

 
28. Notes to the statement of cash flows 

 
  Consolidated 
  Dec  June 
  2013  2013 
(a)  Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents  $  $ 
For the purposes of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, 
cash and cash equivalents comprise the following: 

    

Cash at bank   2,109,806  2,695,699 
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28. Notes to the statement of cash flows (continued) 

 
  Consolidated 
  Dec  June 
  2013  2013 
  $  $ 
(b)  Reconciliation of net loss after tax to net cash flows from 

operating activities 
    

     
Net loss  (1,871,692)  (7,677,691) 
     
Adjustments for:     
     
Depreciation and amortisation  341,218  333,920 
Exploration written off   1,665,827  2,477,858 
Impairment of investment  54,000  - 
Finance costs  478,371  133,804 
Share-based payments   49,899  303,445 
Disposal of assets  117,901  - 
Unrealised exchange (gains)/losses  798,578  (149,999) 
Interest received  (80,912)  (226,408) 

     
Changes in net assets and liabilities:     
(Increase)/decrease in assets:     
Trade and other receivables  609,232  (1,456,091) 
Inventory  (620,700)  (258,112) 
Other current assets  101,569  (46,719) 
     
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:     
Trade and other payables  346,006  149,555 
Provisions  (381,839)  886,555 

Cash generated/(used) in operating activities  1,607,458  (5,529,883) 
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29. Parent Entity 
 
The following table presents the information regarding the parent entity for the six months ended 31 December 2013 
and the year ended 30 June 2013. 
  Dec  June 
  2013  2013 
  $  $ 
Financial position     
Assets     
Current assets  475,639  2,643,542 
Non-current assets  27,500,999  27,212,535 

Total assets  27,976,638  29,856,077 

     
Liabilities     
Current liabilities  4,464,074  365,966 
Non-current liabilities  42,223  3,614,621 

Total liabilities  4,506,297  3,980,587 

     
Equity     
Issued capital  55,268,799  55,268,799 
Retained earnings  (37,313,276)  (34,780,728) 
     
Reserves     
Option premium reserve  5,644,817  5,594,917 
Asset revaluation reserve  (130,000)  (207,500) 

Total equity  23,470,340  25,875,488 

     

 
Financial performance 

 Six months 
ended 

 Year ended 

  Dec  June 
  2013  2013 
  $  $ 
     
Loss for the period  (1,869,610)  (1,217,559) 
Other comprehensive income              168,277        (149,000) 

Total comprehensive income  (1,701,333)  (1,366,559) 

 
Contingent liabilities of the parent entity 
Other than as disclosed at Note 32, the Parent entity is not aware of any other contingent liabilities at the date of 
this report 
 
30. Non-cash transactions 
 
During the period, the Group did not enter into any non-cash financing or investing transactions.  
 
31. Subsequent events 
 
¢ƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŀǇǇƭƛŎŀǘƛƻƴ ŦƻǊ ŀ ΨPortaria de LavraΩ (full mining licence) was approved and gazetted on 30 January 
2014.  
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32. Contingent liabilities 
 
The Group is not aware of any contingent liabilities which existed as at the end of the financial period or that have 
arisen as at the date of this report. 
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1. The Directors declare that: 
 

(a) in the directorsΩ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to 
pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; 

 
(b) in the directorsΩ opinion the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance 

with the Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with accounting standards and giving a true 
and fair view of the financial position and performance of the  consolidated entity; 

 
(c) in ǘƘŜ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ ƻǇƛƴƛƻƴΣ ǘƘŜ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎ ŀƴŘ ƴƻǘŜǎ ǘƘŜǊŜǘƻ ŀǊŜ ƛƴ ŀŎŎƻǊŘŀƴŎŜ ǿƛǘƘ 

International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board as stated in note 2(a); and 

 
(d) the directors have been given the declarations required by s.295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 
 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
On behalf of the Directors 
 

 
 
R. Smakman 
Managing Director 
 
Perth 
25 March 2014 
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 Deloitte Touche Tohm atsu 

ABN 74 490 121 060 

W oodside Plaza 

Level 14 
240 St Georges Terrace 

Perth W A 6000 
GPO Box A46 

Perth W A 6837 Australia 

Tel:  +61 8 9365 7000 
Fax:  +61 (0) 9365 7007 

www.deloitte.com.au 

Independent Auditorôs Report  
to the members of Crusader  Resources 

Limited 
 
Report on the Financial Repor t 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Crusader Resources Limited, which comprises the 

statement of financial position as at 31 December 2013, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income, the statement of cash flows and the statement of changes in equity for the six month period ended on 

that date, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting poli cies and other explanatory information, and 

the directorsô declaration of the consolidated entity, comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the 

periodôs end or from time to time during the financial period as set out on pages 31 to 74. 

Directorsô Responsibilit y for the Financial Report 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and 

fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such 

internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives 

a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 2, the 

directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, 

that the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Auditorôs Responsibility 

Our responsibili ty is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit 

in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with relevant ethical 

requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 

whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditorôs judgement, including the assessment of 

the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 

assessments, the auditor considers internal control, relevant to the companyôs preparation of the financial report 

that gives a true and fair view, in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 

not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the companyôs internal control. An audit 

also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suff icient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion. 

 

Liabili ty limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 
 

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited 

http://www.deloitte.com.au/
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Auditorôs Independence Declaration 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. 

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been 

given to the directors of Crusader Resources Limited, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at 

the time of this auditorôs report. 

Opinion 

In  our  opinion,  the  financial  report  of  Crusader  Resources  Limited  is  in  accordance  with  the 

Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(a)  giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entityôs financial position as at 31 December 2013 and of its 

performance for the period ended on that date; and 

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Report on the Remuneration Repor t 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 10 to 18 of the directorsô report for the period 

ended 31 December 2013. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of 

the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibili ty 

is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with 

Australian Auditing Standards. 

Opinion 

In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Crusader Resources Limited for the period ended 31December 

2013, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

David Newman 
Partner 
Chartered Accountants 

Perth, 25 March 2014 
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Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 

ABN 74 490 121 060 

W oodside Plaza 

Level 14 

240 St Georges Terrace 

Perth W A 6000 

GPO Box A46 

Perth W A 6837 Australia 

DX 206 

Tel:  +61 (0) 8 9365 7000 
Fax:  +61 (0) 8 9365 7001 

www.deloitte.com.au 

The Board of Directors 

Crusader Resources Limited 

Suite 1, Level 1 

35 Havelock Street 

West Perth WA 6005 

25 March 2014 

Dear Board Members 

Crusader  Resources Limited 

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following 
declaration of independence to the directors of Crusader Resources Limited. 

As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of Crusader Resources Limited for the 
financial period ended 31 December 2013, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there 
have been no contraventions of: 

(i)   the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; 
and 
 

(ii ) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

Yours sincerely 

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

David Newman 
Partner 

Chartered Accountants 

Liabi li ty li mited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited. 
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ADDITIONAL ASX INFORMATION 

The additional information dated 19 March 2014 is required by the ASX Limited Listing Rules and not disclosed 
elsewhere in this report. 

Distribution of Shareholders 
 

 Numbers 

1 - 1,000 
1,001 ς 5,000 
5,0001 ς 10,000 
10,001 ς 100,000 
100,001 and over 

84 
217 
175 
408 
145 

TOTAL 1,029 

 

There were 117 holders of less than marketable parcel of ordinary shares. 

Twenty Largest Shareholders 

Shareholder Number of 

Shares 
Percentage 

NATIONAL NOM LTD      14,776,794 11.67% 

HSBC CUSTODY NOM AUST LTD                12,595,893 9.95% 

JP MORGAN NOM AUST LTD        8,271,967 6.53% 

JP MORGAN NOM AUST LTD         6,023,096 4.76% 

MACQUARIE BANK LTD             4,497,941 3.55% 

GWYNVILL TRADING PL 3,191,668 2.52% 

HSBC CUSTODY NOM AUST LTD      3,066,976 2.42% 

BLUE BONE ENTPS WA PL          2,488,571 1.96% 

CITICORP NOM PL 2,410,848 1.90% 

VITOR PL 2,196,699 1.73% 

SHOMRON PL 2,078,000 1.64% 

STEPHEN PAUL R + J A           1,909,495 1.51% 

UBS NOM PL 1,640,004 1.29% 

KASLAM PL                      1,528,570 1.21% 

MELSELINA PL                   1,360,000 1.07% 

SPACETIME PL      1,349,739 1.07% 

MERZEAL PL 1,031,504 0.81% 

FLANNERY FOUNDATION PL 902,652 0.71% 

TZIMOKAS KON 868,801 0.69% 

 73,443,550 57.98% 

 

Substantial Shareholders 

Shareholder 

Number of 

Shares 

Northcape Capital Pty Ltd 12,608,178 

Copulos Group 12,480,276 
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Unquoted Options 

At 19 March 2014, the following unquoted options were on issue: 

 

Grant Date Number on Issue Exercise Price Expiry Date No. of Holders 

10 May 2013 7,322,000 $0.3414 10 May 2017 1 

14 May 2013 1,675,000 $0.43 13 May 2017 4 

30 July 2013 2,990,000 $0.43 7 August 2017 6 

25 August 2010 250,000 $0.44 1 August 2015 1 

8 May 2013 1,000,000 $0.48 31 December 2015 1 

25 August 2010 500,000 $0.56 22 August 2015 2 

19 November 2010 1,000,000 $0.70 22 August 2015 1 

30 November 2011 120,000 $1.35 30 June 2014 1 

30 November 2011 90,000 $1.35 30 June 2016 1 

 

Unquoted Equity Security holdings greater than 20% 

Options (expiring 21 Dec 2015, exercise price $0.48) 

Macquarie Bank Limited  1,000,000 

 

Options (expiring 10 May 2017, exercise price $0.3414) 

Macquarie Bank Limited  7,322,000 

 

Voting Rights 

The voting rights attaching to each class of securities are set our below: 

a) Ordinary Shares: On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one 

vote and upon a poll each shares shall have one vote. 

b) Options: No voting rights 

 

On-market buy back  

There is currently no on-ƳŀǊƪŜǘ ōǳȅ ōŀŎƪ ǇǊƻƎǊŀƳ ŦƻǊ ŀƴȅ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǎŜŎǳǊƛǘƛŜǎΦ   

  

Stock Exchange Listing 

/ǊǳǎŀŘŜǊ wŜǎƻǳǊŎŜǎ [ƛƳƛǘŜŘΩǎ ƻǊŘƛƴŀǊȅ ǎƘŀǊŜǎ ŀǊŜ ǉǳƻǘŜŘ ƻƴ !{· [ƛƳƛǘŜŘΦ ¢ƘŜ ƘƻƳŜ ŜȄŎƘŀƴƎŜ ƛǎ tŜǊǘƘΦ 

Schedule of Mining Tenements 

Location Description Ownership   Location Description Ownership 

Brazil - Borborema 805.049/1977 100%   Brazil - Espinharas 846.136/2005 100% 

Brazil - Borborema 840.149/1980 100%   Brazil - Espinharas 846.140/2005 100% 

Brazil - Borborema 840.152/1980 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.208/2010 100% 

Brazil - Espinharas 846.128/2005 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.209/2010 100% 

Brazil - Espinharas 846.134/2005 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.284/2010 100% 
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Schedule of Mining Tenements (continued) 

Location Description Ownership 
  

Location Description Ownership 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.655/2010 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.224/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.656/2010 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.225/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.657/2010 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.226/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.658/2010 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.229/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.659/2010 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.158/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.660/2010 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.217/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.133/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.227/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.134/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.228/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.135/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.229/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.136/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.230/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.137/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.231/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.138/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.236/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.139/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.232/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.140/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.233/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.141/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.234/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.142/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.235/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.143/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.237/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.167/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.305/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.168/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.306/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.169/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.307/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.170/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.308/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.171/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.309/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.172/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.310/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.173/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.311/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.174/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.312/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.175/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.313/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.176/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.314/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.177/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.216/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.178/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.303/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.179/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.315/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.180/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.316/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.181/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.130/2012 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.183/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.131/2012 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.184/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.132/2012 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.185/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.285/2012 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.206/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.313/2012 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.207/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.314/2012 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.208/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.315/2012 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.159/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.316/2012 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.160/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.317/2012 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.215/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.444/2012 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.218/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.447/2012 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.219/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.448/2012 100% 
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Schedule of Mining Tenements (continued) 

Location Description Ownership 
  

Location Description Ownership 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.220/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.449/2012 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.221/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.450/2012 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.222/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.451/2012 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.223/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.502/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.503/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.695/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.504/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.696/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.505/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.697/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.506/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.698/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.604/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.699/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.632/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.700/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.633/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.701/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.634/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.702/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.635/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.703/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.636/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.705/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.637/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.706/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.093/2013 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.707/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.007/2013 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.708/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.129/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.769/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.130/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.771/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.131/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.772/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.132/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.773/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.133/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.774/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.134/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.775/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.135/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.776/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.136/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.802/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.139/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.803/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.140/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.804/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.142/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.805/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.143/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.822/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.152/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.823/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.153/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.824/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.154/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.825/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.155/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.826/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.156/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.827/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.157/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.828/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.158/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.829/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.159/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.837/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.160/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.838/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.264/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.839/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.304/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.840/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.359/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.847/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.385/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.848/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.436/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.850/2011 100% 
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Schedule of Mining Tenements (continued) 

Location Description Ownership 
  

Location Description Ownership 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.568/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.851/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.688/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.852/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.689/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.854/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.690/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.876/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.691/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.883/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.692/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.884/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.693/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.885/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.694/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.886/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 846.695/2011 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.836/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.127/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.841/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.128/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.842/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.144/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.843/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.250/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.844/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.251/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.845/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.252/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.846/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.253/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.849/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.254/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.853/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.255/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.864/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.256/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.865/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.257/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.866/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.258/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.867/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.259/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.868/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.260/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.869/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.261/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.870/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.262/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.871/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.263/2012 100%   Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.872/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.873/2011 100%  Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.363/2012 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.874/2011 100%  Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.364/2012 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.875/2011 100%  Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.549/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.877/2011 100%  Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.550/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.878/2011 100%  Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.551/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.879/2011 100%  Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.552/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.880/2011 100%  Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.553/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.881/2011 100%  Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.554/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.882/2011 100%  Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.557/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.898/2011 100%  Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.558/2011 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.358/2012 100%  Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.137/2012 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.361/2012 100%  Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.138/2012 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.365/2012 100%  Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.141/2012 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.366/2012 100%  Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.145/2012 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.367/2012 100%  Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.360/2012 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.555/2011 100%  Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.362/2012 100% 

Brazil - Faixa Seridó 848.556/2011 100%  Brazil - Manga 860.564/2011 100% 
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Schedule of Mining Tenements (continued) 

Location Description Ownership 

Brazil - Manga 860.566/2011 100% 

Brazil - Manga 860.274/2007 100% 

Brazil - Manga 860.563/2011 100% 

Brazil - Manga 860.565/2011 100% 

Brazil - Manga 860.567/2011 100% 

Brazil - Mara Rosa 860.957/2012 100% 

Brazil - Mara Rosa 860.958/2012 100% 

Brazil - Mara Rosa 860.959/2012 100% 

Brazil - Posse 834.705/1993 100% 

Brazil - Tarântula 848.099/2006 100% 

 


